

Heyderman, L J, and Stamps, R L (2013) *Artificial ferroic systems: novel functionality from structure, interactions and dynamics*. Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter, 25 (36). p. 363201. ISSN 0953-8984

Copyright © 2013 IOP Publishing Ltd

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

Content must not be changed in any way or reproduced in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder(s)

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details must be given

http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/94697/

Deposited on: 25 June 2014

Enlighten – Research publications by members of the University of Glasgow http://eprints.gla.ac.uk

# **ARTIFICIAL FERROIC SYSTEMS:**

# New functionalities from structure, interactions and dynamics

L.J. Heyderman and R.L. Stamps

# Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Artificial Spin Systems
  - 2.1 From water ice to artificial spin ice
  - 2.2 Approaching the ground state with magnetic field protocols
  - 2.3 Emergent magnetic monopoles
  - 2.4 Thermal behaviour: novel phases and dynamics
  - 2.5 Control of artificial spin ice with a view to devices
- 3. Tunable Magnonic Crystals
  - 3.1 Dynamics at shorter timescales
  - 3.2 Spin waves in element arrays
  - 3.3 Spinwave bands in reprogrammable crystals: artificial spin ice
  - 3.4 Additional magnonic structures
  - 3.5 Applications and other phenomena: magnetic logic and nonlinear excitations
  - 3.6 Fast switching and spin wave interactions
- 4. Functional Ferroic Composites
  - 4.1 Materials and Interactions in Multiferroic Composites
  - 4.2 Electric field control
  - 4.3 Electromagnons: multiferroic composites at high frequency
  - 4.4 The future of multiferroic composites
- 5. Summary and Outlook

# 1. Introduction



**Figure 1:** Novel functionality can be gained from artificial ferroic systems consisting of interacting structures with magnetic and/or electric properties. This functionality has the potential for new devices activated by a magnetic and/or electric fields, in either quasi-static or dynamic regimes.

An important but often elusive characteristic of nature is the appearance of new functionalities that emerge from the combination of a variety of interacting elemental building blocks. Here we focus on engineered condensed matter systems, specifically thin film systems made up of several *ferroic* components where new functions and properties appear (figure 1). These *artificial ferroic systems* can be either entirely magnetic or a mixture of magnetic and ferroelectric constituents, and the structure in these systems is created either during thin film growth or with lithographic methods. Such systems have many degrees of freedom that are much more complex and tuneable than simple thin films and, in our approach, we explore how potentially useful properties arise on different time and length scales, and how the timescales for specific dynamic phenomena can be controlled. To be more precise, we mainly discuss the properties of ferroic structures patterned into single domain elements with individual volumes on the order of  $10^5$  nm<sup>3</sup>, and dynamics that occur with characteristic times in the range  $10^{-8}$  to  $10^{-10}$  s.

We begin with *Artificial Spin Systems*, which are arrangements of interacting nanomagnets that provide model systems for their bulk crystal counterparts. A straightforward example would be to represent an antiferromagnet having alternating spins on the crystal lattice with a series of dipolar coupled nanomagnets with out-of-plane anisotropy placed, say, on a two dimensional square lattice. One can also consider more complex arrangements that lead to geometrical frustration such as those found in artificial spin ice, which will be one of the key motivations of the current review. We will describe the ordering and response to slowly varying applied fields and temperature, demonstrating how interactions between elements can lead to novel material behaviour such as non-trivial avalanche dynamics and the appearance of quasi-domains. We also show that these systems can be controlled, which is a pre-requisite for device applications.

We then move on to the implementation of micro- and nanoscale structures as *Tunable Magnonic Crystals*, progressing from the quasi-static behaviour described in artificial spin ice to dynamics at

radio frequency timescales. The magnetic properties of the magnonic crystals are determined by the structure in terms of magnetic material, element size and shape. One can thus control magnetization processes and response to applied fields through composition and geometry, and thereby adjust the characteristic timescales governing the creation of new magnetic states and equilibration. Moreover, by controlling the static configurations and their evolution, one also determines many details of the allowed excitation spectra. Indeed, ferromagnets have natural resonances in the microwave region, providing new possibilities to manipulate microwaves in magnonic crystals, a magnetic analogy to photonic crystals, where new and useful dynamic properties emerge by patterning magnetic thin films.

We complete this review with *Functional Ferroic Composites*, in particular combining a ferroelectric material with a ferromagnetic material to give an artificial multiferroic, with improved magnetoelectric properties compared to those of multiferroic single phase crystals. The two ferroic materials can be combined in different ways, for example, either as particles of one material in a matrix of the other or as a layered system. These can be referred to as composite or hybrid systems, which make use of the contrasting properties of the two or more different materials to improve performance or engineer novel properties. For such composites, it is not only the combination of the properties of the individual components of the composite that are important, but more crucially the nature of the coupling at the interfaces that can be mediated by strain but also other phenomena. We discuss here how some of these properties create new possibilities for active control of desired responses to time varying electric and/or magnetic fields. We then introduce microwave frequency properties and present the unique features associated with the new functionalities of the artificial materials.

One might ask why artificial ferroic systems have the potential for new possibilities and opportunities, not already considered in the myriad examples of well-studied multiferroic materials and magnetic heterostructures. The first answer to this question is the possibility to discover fascinating, new physics which emerges when micro- and nanometre-sized elements with different properties are brought together and arranged in different geometries in such a way that interelement interactions generate distinctive, collective behaviour. The second answer, that is more relevant to society, is to create novel physical phenomena that will lead to new and improved devices. Since these materials are polarisable, they are technologically relevant because of their susceptibility to electric and/or magnetic fields, allowing these systems to be implemented in various device applications such as data storage, memory and logic, and as nano-oscillators for communications. In particular, the requirements for information technology and communications include scalability and high density, which necessarily means small size, faster data storage or transfer, higher output signals, low power consumption, low cost, and reproducible control of the magnetic states. Whereas the materials we discuss are well known for their utility in such applications, the emergent collective properties when patterned into the arrays of elements have not been examined with a view towards devices. The concept of artificial ferroic systems that we review here, will not only lead to the creation of high performance materials by design but also holds the promise of enhanced electromagnetic functionality by exploiting the sensitivity of the radio frequency response to the static magnetic configuration. This is an example of how patterned magnetic arrays, in which magnetic configurations can be changed using applied magnetic fields, can provide new functionality, since controlled modification of the magnetic configuration will give a specific change the allowed magnetic excitations. Extension of this to electric field control will be possible by replacing magnetic with multiferroic or ferroelectric/magnetic composites. With these new degrees of freedom in design and construction, and interactions giving rise to novel collective behaviour, artificial ferroic systems have the potential not only to satisfy the above application requirements but also to provide new technological breakthroughs in the coming years.

## 2. Artificial Spin Systems

We begin by outlining an intriguing class of metamaterials, which consist of particular arrangements of interacting nanomagnets and are referred to here as *artificial spin systems*, with their characteristic length scales and energies distinguishing them from spin systems frustrated at the atomic level due to competing interactions between the individual spins. In the artificial spin ice, the elements of the system are sub-micrometre in size in order to ensure that they are single domain, but have mainly up to now been sufficiently large to suppress thermal fluctuations. The interactions are magnetostatic in origin and can be controlled by simply choosing the distance between nanomagnets, which have lateral dimensions typically on the order of 10's to 100's nanometres. The interactions control how the static order responds to applied magnetic fields or temperature and, the nature of the resulting magnetization dynamics.



**Figure 2:** Evolution of artificial spin ice from water ice: (a) Water ice structure with two protons sitting closer to the oxygen atom and two sitting further away (view of single tetrahedron and five corner sharing tetrahedra), (b) the spin structure of the rare earth titanate pyrochlore 'spin ice' (view of single tetrahedron and two views of five corner sharing tetrahedra, with the right hand view emphasizing the kagome planes) with the corresponding artificial spin ice systems: (c) with elongated single domain magnets arranged on the square lattice and (d) with elongated single domain nanomagnets arranged on the kagome lattice. The ground state configuration with the lattice parameter, taken as the distance between the centres of two neighbouring islands, is indicated for each lattice type. Reproduced from [1] with kind permission of Springer Science+Business Media.

Important in these systems is the magnetic polarisation that drives the behaviour and, as mentioned above, their interaction via dipolar coupling, which is mediated by the electromagnetic field. Long range ordering of dipoles is of course an old problem, and has been studied extensively in many contexts. In one and two dimensions, long-range ordering of electric or magnetic moments in lattice

geometries is possible [2]. Since the fields from dipolar sources are not simply spherically symmetric, the nature of long range ordering in dipolar lattices is very strongly dependent on details of the geometry [3]. For example, rhombic arrays of dipoles can support either ferro- or antiferromagnetic orderings depending on the vertex angle. There is moreover a strong dependence in two dimensions on array edges, which can destabilise the ordering in favour of vortex or domain formation [4-7]. While early work has primarily been concerned with microscopic dipoles, extension to magnetic particles soon followed [8-11]. There has been a flurry of efforts over the past decade to construct and understand the static and dynamic behaviour of such dipolar coupled nanomagnet systems. In what follows we comment primarily on systems which show potential for emergent behaviour that can arise from frustration and competing interactions. Specifically, we describe systems that have in recent years come to be known as *artificial spin ice*.

### 2.1 From water ice to artificial spin ice

It is instructive to understand the origins of the term 'artificial spin ice' (figure 2), which began with the discovery of geometrical frustration in the rare earth pyrochlore  $Ho_2Ti_2O_7$  [12]. The term 'frustration' in physical systems refers to the inability of the system to satisfy all interactions simultaneously and this leads to a large degeneracy of low energy states and non-zero entropy at absolute zero. In water ice the frustration comes about because of an incompatibility of the bonding distances with the tetrahedral geometry leading to the lowest energy state at a tetrahedron given by the ice rule: two protons (or hydrogen ions) sit closer to the oxygen ion and two are positioned further away (figure 2a).



**Figure 3:** Magnetic moment configurations at island vertices. (a) The sixteen possible moment configurations at a four island vertex in the artificial square ice, sorted into the four different types with increasing energy. (b) The eight possible moment configurations at a three island vertex in the artificial kagome spin ice, sorted into the two different types. The numbers indicate the expected percentage of each type if the individual moment orientations in an array were completely random corresponding to zero dipolar coupling. Reproduced from [1] with kind permission of Springer Science+Business Media.

A corresponding phenomenon in the rare earth pyrochlores comes about due to a combination of the interactions between the spins on the corners of the pyrochlore tetrahedra and the Ising anisotropy along the 111-type directions (figure 2b), which arises from the crystal field and causes the spins to point towards or away from the centre of the tetrahedra. This leads to the equivalent two-spins-

in/two-spins-out ice rule for the lowest energy state. For the crystal, which consists of an extended arrangement of corner sharing tetrahedra, the lowest energy (or ground) state is then composed of a large number of such two-in/two-out arrangements. The bulk spin ice crystals display a whole host of interesting thermal and field dependent behaviour that arises from the frustration [12-16]. However, the specific control of the lattice and spin geometry is virtually impossible, and complete knowledge of the orientation of each individual spin is not feasible with current experimental methods.

In 2006, it was the group of Peter Schiffer who came up with the idea of mimicking the behaviour of the three dimensional spin ice crystal with a two-dimensional arrangements of dipolar coupled nanomagnets created with electron beam lithography, so-called artificial spin ice (figure 2c) [17]. These nanomagnet systems can be fabricated from thin film ferromagnetic materials such as Permalloy (an alloy of Ni80%Fe20%) or cobalt, and the size of the nanomagnets is chosen to ensure that they are single domain with the now macroscopic magnetic moments taking on the role of the Ising spins in the bulk crystals. The nanomagnets are elongated and the resulting shape anisotropy causes the moments to align parallel to the long edge of the nanomagnets, so that they can point along one of two directions. The innovative idea of artificial spin systems is that one can tune the array geometry, not only placing the nanomagnets on lattices found in nature, but also in other geometries, and that the magnetic configurations are directly visible using a host of different microscopy techniques sensitive to the magnetisation, magnetic induction or magnetic stray field arising from the nanomagnets [17-21].

As a result of the dipolar interactions, which favour head-to-tail magnetic moment interactions between nearest neighbour nanomagnets meeting at a vertex (i.e. favouring north pole facing south pole), the lowest energy local configuration or corresponding ice rule for magnetic moments in an artificial square ice is two-in/two-out where four islands meet as shown in figure 2c. There is, however, an issue with the square ice, pointed out shortly after the original work was published [22], since the dipolar coupling between the islands at the vertices are not equivalent i.e. neighbouring islands at a vertex are closer together than the islands on opposite sides of the vertices, and the relative orientations between the islands are different (see figure 2c). One could consider lifting one sub-lattice with respect to the other [1, 22], but this is somewhat difficult to construct experimentally. Another possibility is to consider instead the artificial kagome (or hexagonal) spin ice [22, 23], where the elongated magnetic islands are placed on the sites of the kagome lattice to form the links of a honeycomb. This arrangement corresponds to studying the behaviour of a bulk spin ice with a magnetic field applied along the [111] direction [24] and can be visualized by rotating the pyrochlore lattice so that the kagome planes are orthogonal to the line of sight as shown in figure 2b. In such an artificial kagome spin ice, the interactions between the islands at the threeisland vertex are the equivalent.

When considering the local magnetic moment configurations at a vertex where the islands meet, one finds that for the square ice there are sixteen possible arrangements (figure 3a) [17], which can be separated into four different vertex types. The vertex energy increases when going from Type I to Type IV although, if one assumes a random distribution of configurations, the percentage of each vertex type is given by the degeneracy of a given vertex type, with the respective values specified in the figure. There are two types of configurations with two moments pointing in and two pointing out, but Type I has a lower energy due to the fact that the interactions between nanoislands at a vertex are not equivalent and leads to a unique ground state comprising a checkerboard of alternating vortices with island moments circulating clockwise and anticlockwise (see figure 2c). For the artificial kagome spin ice there are two vertex types, the first obeys the ice rule given in this case by two-moments-pointing-in/one-moment-pointing-out or vice versa and is the lowest energy configuration. The second is a higher energy state with all moments pointing in (or out) at a three island vertex so breaking the ice rule. The ground state, determined from a long range dipolar

calculation which should be taken into account when considering these systems [25], consists of repeated units of a three-ring configuration [26, 27]. Here, two of the rings form vortices of circulating head-to-tail moments, one with the moments circulating clockwise and the other with moments circulating anticlockwise. The third ring has alternating head-to-head and tail-to-tail neighbouring moments (figure 2d). It remains to be seen whether such a configuration can ever be achieved, since the series of head-to-tail moments in the third ring locally forms a very high energy configuration. At this point, it is important to emphasize that in artificial ferroic systems where elements are coupled primarily through dipolar interactions, one should consider the long range nature of the dipolar coupling. There can be significant differences between models that consider all elements when calculating the long range dipole interactions in artificial spin systems and those which consider only elements within a certain distance range, with a near neighbour only model being the smallest range [28]. It is therefore important to remember that predicted magnetic configurations, and the behaviour in response to external stimuli, can in some systems depend strongly on approximations made in modelling of long range interactions [5].

The particular magnetic configuration observed in artificial spin ice is dependent on the field and thermal history. Here, the lattice type dictates the extent of frustration and therefore the extent of the magnetic order, and also the detailed geometry in terms of island size and lattice parameter (or distance between neighbouring islands), determines whether it is the dipolar coupling or the shape anisotropy, or a combination of both, that dictates the magnetic behaviour of the array. For example, in the artificial kagome spin ice, the ice rule in demagnetised systems is robust for strong dipolar coupling [18, 19]. However, the ice rule can be broken on application of a magnetic field [21, 29], leading to a regular array of ice rule defects at low dipolar coupling [30, 31]. It should also be pointed out that, while arrangements of dipolar coupled nanomagnets are thought to be a good way to mimic the behaviour of Ising spins, one can also consider systems made up of connected nanowires that, for example, form a honeycomb network with the artificial kagome spin ice geometry [19, 21, 32-34]. In the connected systems, the fundamental reversal processes are different from those of the individual nanomagnets. Here the reversal occurs via domain walls passing through the system and one can consider these walls to be acting as charge carriers [33, 35]. The connected artificial square ice is often referred to as an antidot array [36], since one can think of the structure as a magnetic thin film with an array of holes in a magnetic thin film. Such antidot arrays have been of recent interest for use as magnonic crystals [37], described in Section 3, and for the generation of antivortices [38].

Artificial spin ice is a particular realisation of arrangements of magnetic moments that mimic the spins in the crystal counterpart, and is part of a much larger family of *artificial spin systems* that encompasses several different arrangements of dipolar coupled nanomagnets. This includes a whole host of other planar geometries such as modified basic spin ice lattices [39], those that use a triangular lattice as a template [40, 41], and those that place the nanomagnets on the links of a Kagome lattice [42] or on quasiperiodic lattices [43]. One can also study magnetic elements with perpendicular anisotropy, which are interesting for applications such as bit patterned media [44], and correspond to perpendicular Ising spins placed, for example, on a triangular, kagome or honeycomb lattice [28, 45]. Each of these systems has its own unique behaviour in terms of the ordering of the magnetic moments and, because one can fine-tune the geometry, in terms of the lattice, disorder and defects, they provide ideal systems for studying return point memory [46]. It should also be mentioned here that one can create pseudo-spin systems from non-magnetic components, for example using colloids [46-50], by constructing a potential landscape for trapping superconducting vortices [51], or by fabricating an array of dipolar coupled superconducting rings [52].

One can also study systems based on magnetic elements, which interact at very different length

scales. At the smallest length scales, clusters of carefully positioned antiferromagnetically coupled atoms are coupled by Ruderman–Kittel–Kasuya–Yosida exchange interactions [53]. In contrast, macroscopic magnetic systems [54, 55] have much slower reversal timescales on the order of seconds, allowing the dynamics to be effortlessly recorded, and offer the possibility to generate an effective temperature by applying random local fields, with an electromagnet assigned to each macroscopic magnet. Despite the variety, all of these systems provide a way to study the effects of frustration, each offering its own advantages in terms of length and time scales, the measurement techniques available to record the behaviour, options for applying external stimuli and possibilities to tailor the systems.

In the next section, we will describe various areas of particular interest to the artificial spin ice community. We first discuss attempts to reach the ground state primarily using field anneal protocols, but also more recent work involving thermally activated systems, and then describe the emergence of various phenomena from the collective behaviour of the magnetic moments in such two dimensional dipolar coupled systems including magnetic monopoles, avalanches and quasi-domains with their accompanying domain boundaries.

## 2.2 Approaching the ground state with magnetic field protocols

One key ambition since the first proposal to use two dimensional arrangements of nanomagnets as a model system for bulk spin ice [17] has been to study behaviour analogous to the thermally active spins in their crystal counterparts, and to determine how far it is possible to achieve the lowest energy configurations using an effective thermal anneal involving demagnetization with an applied magnetic field. Such demagnetisation methods have involved rotating the sample either about an inplane or out-of-plane sample axis in a magnetic field that is applied orthogonal to the axis of rotation. During rotation, the applied field is reduced from a value above saturation down to zero and following such a demagnetization of artificial square ice samples, it has been observed that the nearest neighbour correlations dominate the behaviour of the system as in the bulk counterpart, but that the absolute ground state was not achieved. In finite systems consisting of clusters of dipolar coupled nanomagnets [18], it has been found that the ability to achieve the ground state via demagnetization reduces as the extent of the clusters increases and the ground state is only reproducibly achieved in the smallest clusters consisting of a ring of nanomagnets with no frustrated vertices. One might ask whether this lack of ground state in larger systems is an indication of the increasing frustration or just a matter of increasing complexity since, for larger clusters, the pathways to the ground state are more intricate. In order to address this question, clusters of islands based on the square ice have been studied where all clusters include the same number of islands but with varying degrees of frustration depending on the island arrangement [56]. In this work, it was indeed observed that the ability to achieve the ground state in clusters increases as the degree of frustration increases.

During demagnetization of an artificial spin ice, the orientation of the axis about which the sample is rotated does not appear to affect to the ability to achieve the lowest energy states [18]. However, the use of finer steps on reducing the magnetic field does lead to a reduction in the energy of the final state, and even produces a zero magnetic moment [57]. However, extrapolation of the dipolar energy to the values expected when the field step is reduced towards zero indicates that using such demagnetization methods will ultimately not lead to the ground state. It may turn out to be more effective to rotate the sample in a magnetic field that is maintained at a constant value, [58] which is predicted to give a maximum of ground state vertices. Here the field should not be set too high, otherwise the moments freeze in to ensure a dynamic response. Another possibility is to vary the sense of rotation during demagnetization so that, in combination with disorder resulting from the switching field distribution of the nanomagnets, the system is prevented from getting stuck in higher energy local minima [59].

It is instructive at this point to consider the athermal ice problem within the context of population dynamics using a type of mean field theory. In this approach one can identify allowed processes described in terms of vertex interactions [58]. This approach provides estimates of vertex populations that can be achieved by specific field protocols. The method is fruitful in that the average populations of different vertex types can be compared with those obtained from images taken in experiment.



**Figure 4:** The geometry of artificial square ice and vertex interactions. In (a) examples of each of the four types of vertices are shown with Type I having the lowest energy and Type IV having the highest energy. In (b) "open" and (c) "closed" edge geometries for a finite array are depicted. In (d) the magnitude and direction of an applied field in a rotating protocol is defined. Examples of the dynamics involved in creating configurations are shown in (e). The first two are examples of how a single spin flip transforms one vertex type into another, and the other diagrams illustrate how single spin flips drive vertex pair processes. Reprinted with permission from [58]. Copyright 2010 by the American Physical Society.

One begins by defining transition rates  $\Gamma_{ij}$  of transformations between vertex types i and j via single magnetic element reversals for a specific configuration. We note that reversal of the magnetization of an element can be a complicated process. However this process occurs quickly when compared to the rates at which applied magnetic fields are changed. As such, we consider the reversals as simple reversals of magnetic elements, and we refer to these as 'spin flips'. The transition rates therefore describe in a simple way the dynamic processes associated with reversals of moments in individual magnetic elements that result in our so-called 'spin flips'. The characteristic time for such reversals is determined by the processes of reversal. Typically reversal will occur on time scales roughly determined by the rate at which energy from the magnetic spin system dissipates into the electronic and lattice systems. This occurs on timescales of the order of tens of nanoseconds, and is sensitive to details of the reversal process. Examples of some of the possible spin flip processes are sketched in figure 4. In this figure, the square lattice geometry and its vertex types are shown in (a). One needs also to consider the edges of the array, with two possibilities shown in (b) and (c). In the rotating field protocol, a fixed magnitude magnetic field is rotated with respect to the array through an angle  $\theta$  (see figure 4d). Depending on magnitude and angle, different processes can occur, as shown in (e). The circled numbers denote the vertex type, and reversal of the black spins drives the transitions between single vertices or pairs of vertices.

A mean field theory describing the evolution of the populations to a steady state under a field protocol is made by first supposing that reversal of an element's magnetization  $s_i$  occurs when

 $-\vec{H}_{loc} \cdot \vec{s}_i > h_c$ , where  $H_{loc}$  is the sum of all dipolar and external fields acting locally on the element, and  $h_c$  is the coercive field for the element. Next, one can consider all possible spin flip driven transitions for a given field magnitude and orientation that transforms a vertex of type *i* to a vertex of type *j*. By averaging over these possible spin flip driven processes one is able to construct an average transition rate  $v_{ij}$  that describes the overall change in vertex populations  $n_i$  and  $n_j$ . The same is done for the  $v_{ijk}$  that describe correlated vertex transitions (as shown for six examples in figure 4). The population equations then take the form:

$$\frac{d}{dt}n_i = \sum_{ij} v_{ij}n_j + \sum_{ijk} v_{ijk}n_jn_k$$
(1)

These define a set of coupled nonlinear population equations, and can be solved numerically for the stationary populations.



**Figure 5:** Vertex populations versus applied magnetic field strength from (a) experiment and (b) simulation of artificial square ice manufactured from Permalloy islands (thickness 30 nm, length 280 nm, width 85 nm, and lattice parameter  $a\sqrt{2} = 400$  nm). In both cases a magnetic field of fixed magnitude was applied and rotated in the plane of a square ice array. A distribution of switching fields is assumed, with a standard deviation equivalent to the near-neighbour interaction field. Symbols represent vertex types as shown in the legend, with open (closed) symbols for open (closed) edge arrays. The disorder given by the switching field distribution leads to very little difference in results for open and closed edges. Each data point is the average over several runs and error bars represent the standard error. The populations are sensitive to the applied field only within a range of applied field strengths, and this range is determined by the strength of the switching fields and inter-element interactions. The agreement between experiment and theory is obtained by assuming a Gaussian distribution of switching fields and using the width of the distribution as a fitting parameter. In this way, agreement provides a unique measure of the switching field distribution. Reprinted with permission from [60]. Copyright 2012 by the American Physical Society.

It should be noted that in order to approach real experimental systems, the effects of disorder must be taken into account. In a perfect system, the energies associated with the transition of one vertex type to another are distinct. However, the inclusion of disorder in either interaction strength or coercive field modifies the transition processes so that previously distinct processes can occur at similar energies. Such inclusion of disorder was shown by simulations to provide an excellent agreement with experimental determination of vertex populations under rotating field protocols for square ice [60]. Example results are shown in figure 5, with the results from experiment shown in figure 5a and the corresponding simulations shown in figure 5b where a disorder in coercive field was assumed. This fitting allows one to extract a value for the spread in coercive fields simply by counting vertices and, in the next section, we will describe work that demonstrates how this disorder is critical for defining the behaviour of avalanches of flipped nanomagnet moments [29].

In this section, we have described how demagnetization methods have been used as an effective thermal anneal in attempts to achieve the ground state in static artificial spin ice systems, where the shape anisotropy of the individual nanomagnets results in a high energy barrier to moment flips at around  $10^5$  K. Despite having static moments, one can consider such systems to be a thermal ensemble having an effective temperature [61, 62] and calculate the system entropy by considering configurations of smaller units in the arrays [63]. However, ultimately field protocols do not provide the stochastic dynamics associated with in a true thermal anneal. They are comparatively deterministic in nature, which comes about because the orientation of the moments is given not only by a combination of the local dipolar fields from neighbouring magnets but also the instantaneous applied field magnitude and orientation. This becomes most obvious for systems with large lattice parameters, and therefore low dipolar coupling, where all of the moments end up pointing towards the orientation of the applied magnetic field just before they freeze in [18].

#### 2.3 Emergent magnetic monopoles



**Figure 6:** Experimental observation of emergent monopoles and Dirac strings in a quasi-infinite artificial kagome spin ice. To the left is a photoemission electron microscopy image of an artificial kagome spin ice consisting of Permalloy islands (thickness 20 nm, length 470 nm, width 160 nm, and lattice parameter 500 nm) together with the associated  $\Delta Q$  map to the right. The Dirac strings connect monopole–antimonopole pairs with  $\Delta Q = +2q$  and -2q indicated with red and blue dots. The  $\Delta Q$  map is shown together with the dimensionless coarse grained magnetic charge density,  $\rho_m$ , both of which give signatures for nonzero charge density. Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Physics. [29], copyright 2011.

The collective behaviour of the dipolar coupled nanomagnets in artificial spin ice results in emergent phenomena including magnetic monopoles and avalanches, described in this section, and quasi-domains described in the next section. Such emergent physics has been rarely used to describe the behaviour of an array of nanomagnets. In terms of fundamental science, this provides a new way to think about these systems that may in turn lead to the discovery novel physical phenomena. An additional ambitious goal would be to invent and design novel spintronic devices that take advantage of emergent phenomena, for example making use of magnetic charge transport.

We begin with emergent magnetic monopoles, which are quasiparticles predicted to occur in the pyrochlore spin ice as monopole-antimonopole pairs by Castelnovo et al. in 2008 [64]. The monopole pairs are connected via a so-called 'Dirac String', which refers to the concept used by Dirac to take into account Maxwell's equations  $(\nabla \cdot \vec{B} = 0)$  [65] with an arbitrarily narrow flux tube transferring magnetic flux between them. This prediction was followed by a series of experiments using Neutron Scattering to detect the signatures of the emergent magnetic monopoles and Dirac strings in the pyrochlore systems at low temperature [66-68]. Taking a natural step, it then became an important challenge to try to find corresponding charge defects in artificial spin ice [29, 32]. However, before proceeding, it is important to note that these *emergent* magnetic monopoles are captured in a condensed matter system and one should take care to distinguish them from their elementary particle counterparts [69].

At this point, it is important to know how to identify such charged quasiparticles in an artificial spin ice system. For this one can consider the dumbbell charge model introduced by Castelnovo et al. [64], and envisage replacing a magnetic dipole with two charges, one positive (+1q) and one negative (-1q), residing at neighbouring vertices. If one considers then the net charge at each vertex, Q, the ground state arrangement of charges for the artificial square ice consists of zero charge at each vertex, whereas for the artificial kagome spin ice, this becomes an ordered array of alternating  $Q = \pm 1q$  charges. In order then to locate the magnetic monopoles (antimonopoles) in a given magnetic configuration, one needs to consider the charge at each vertex in relation to the ground state of charges,  $\Delta Q$ . The emergent magnetic monopoles (antimonopoles) can be found at the sites where  $\Delta Q = \pm 2q$  [1, 29].

In quasi-infinite artificial kagome spin ice, the magnetization reversal is characterised by lines of islands with reversed magnetic moments [29] as shown in figure 6a. These lines of islands with reversed moments can be considered to be mesoscopic approximations of the so-called 'Dirac string', with a monopole-antimonopole pair defining the two ends and the Dirac string giving a record of the monopole motion [29]. The Dirac strings are indicated in figure 6b by a continuous line connecting a red-blue monopole–antimonopole pair corresponding to vertices with  $\Delta Q = +2q$ and -2q. In order to confirm the presence of monopoles, one can consider the coarse grained charge density,  $\rho_m$ , [64] which, as can be seen in figure 6b, is indeed consistent with the position of the charge defects  $\Delta Q/q = \pm 2$ . Interestingly, the Dirac strings in this two dimensional system are one dimensional [29], which is a signature of 'dimensional reduction due to frustration' [70], and is a consequence of the fact that the strings do not branch which, along with the fact that they do not propagate around corners, can be understood by considering the local dipolar fields [71]. The direction of Dirac string propagation can be controlled, for example, by local chirality of the spins, given by the local curling of the spins at the ends of the islands interacting at a vertex [72] and the chirality of the moving domain wall [73] in a connected system. In the end, the prevailing propagation mechanisms will depend on the orientation of the applied field and the detailed geometry of the system. For example, the extent of the strings is dependent on the amount of disorder given by the distribution in switching fields of the islands. A system with high disorder is characterized by short avalanches, whereas low disorder results in avalanches whose length approaches the sample size [71, 74].

The displacement of charge defects leaving lines of islands with reversed moments can also be observed in square ice arrays as the motion of Type III vertices (see figure 3a) [20, 75], but for them to be 'freely moving', the relative heights of the sublattices should be modified [1, 76]. Indeed, as the positive and negative charges separate in the artificial square ice systems fabricated to date, the relevant energy term does not always behave as expected for a Coulomb interaction [76]. Therefore, in order to confirm real quasipartile behaviour, one would have to demonstrate appropriate quasipartile interactions, i.e. that oppositely charged monopoles attract and like monopoles repel. A

first hint of such interactions has been observed during magnetization reversal [77] and also as a preponderance of closed looped configurations minimising the number of monopole-antimonopole pairs in thermally annealed samples [78]. In addition, it is appealing to think of employing such quasiparticles in devices that make use of *magnetic charge* transport without an associated electric charge current. Such devices would operate on 'spin currents' in which angular momentum is used to transport information, with a minimum of ohmic losses that are associated with electron scattering.

#### 2.4 Thermal behaviour: novel phases and dynamics



**Figure 7:** Theoretical phase diagram for an artificial kagome spin ice system. Both the changes in entropy per spin, S, and associated specific heat, C, are shown. Reprinted with permission from [26]. Copyright 2009 by the American Physical Society.

The first publications that addressed the possibilities of artificial spin ice in a thermal regime were theoretical, demonstrating that when considering the long range dipolar interactions in an equivalent spin system there are a number of transitions on reducing the temperature [26, 27]. The transitions are observed as distinct peaks in the heat capacity, C, with the entropy, S, having broad plateaus for the different phases (figure 7). These transitions bring about changes in the vertex charge order, the spin ordering or both. At high temperature the system resembles a paramagnetic phase with neither charge nor spin order, and on cooling there is first a transition to a phase with a gas of  $\pm 1q$  charges, followed by a charge ordered phase with  $\pm 1q$ , -1q charges on alternating vertices. While the charge order at this temperature is associated with a large number of spin configurations, on decreasing the temperature further it was found that the lowest temperature phase consists of a configuration with both spin and charge order as shown in figure 2d.

Along with more recent work [79], these theoretical results have provided insight into what one might expect to observe in a real thermal system with fluctuating magnetic moments. In terms of experimental work, a first indication that thermal annealing will provide the long sought after route to the low energy states was uncovered in an as-grown artificial square ice consisting of permalloy islands [78]. The appearance of the ground state in this sample (see figure 8a) was linked to its formation in the first stages of film growth when the layer was thin enough (sub-1 nm) to support thermal fluctuations. As the layer became thicker, the moments froze into the ground state consisting of vortices with head-to-tail moments of alternating chirality as shown in figure 2c, with

boundaries separating domains of opposite chirality. Local excitations consisting of clusters of islands with moments flipped compared to the background were also present and the frequency of these excitations decreased exponentially with their excitation energy above the ground state (figure 8b). This was found to follow a Boltzmann distribution, so providing a signature for thermal excitations and therefore 'true thermodynamics'. This experimental work was followed by a theoretical treatment that provided a phase diagram of the ordering as a function of thickness and lattice constant [80]. Here it was demonstrated that the lowest energy state can be reached for sufficiently high dipolar coupling (low lattice constant) and suitably high temperatures. More recently it has been demonstrated experimentally that thermally induced ordered states can be readily obtained in artificial spin-ice systems by heating the sample close to the material Curie temperature and then freezing them in by cooling back to room temperature [81].



**Figure 8:** First indications of thermal behaviour in artificial spin ice. (a) Magnetic force microscopy image of long range ordering in the artificial square ice with Permalloy islands (thickness 26 nm, length 280 nm and width 85 nm, and lattice parameter  $a\sqrt{2} = 400$  nm) with quasi-domains of opposite chirality separated by boundaries and local excitations consisting of small groups of moments flipped against the low energy background. (b) Abundance of square ice excitations plotted against the energy of observed excitations with respect to the background. The fact that the frequency of excitations decreases exponentially with the excitation energy indicates a Boltzmann distribution that is a signature for thermal excitations. Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Physics [78], copyright 2011.

While the artificial spin ice display many features that approximate those discovered in microscopic spin ice, they are especially interesting when viewed from the perspective of novel magnetic materials. In this regard, they can be understood as an artificial two dimensional multi-sublattice magnet. In particular, as discussed above, the square ice supports two degenerate and incompatible ground states. This leads to the possibility to have quasi-domains of ground state ordering separated by boundaries. When one leaves the athermal regime, domain growth should occur spontaneously at temperatures large enough to cause individual elements to fluctuate and this has been demonstrated in numerical simulations [82] (see figure 9). The boundaries between the domains contain Type II and III vertices, and the wall modifications have been observed to occur by Type III vertex nucleation and propagation. Since the domain boundaries are associated with a higher energy than the Type I background, the system tries to minimize their length, so causing the small domains to shrink at the expense of the larger ones until they eventually disappear.

Finally, indications of real thermal dynamics have been observed in ultrathin layers of iron sandwiched between palladium layers [83, 84]. For these monolayer systems, temperature-dependent magnetization measurements indicated that on increasing the temperature, a decrease in the macro-spin order or a 'pre-melting' occurred at a temperature well below the intrinsic ordering

temperature of the island material [84]. In addition, the recent imaging of thermally active artificial spin ice manufactured from permalloy films only a few nm's thick [85], opens the way to completely new directions of study, allowing the direct observation of configurational dynamics and thermal relaxation, and providing a controlled route to the lowest-energy state.



**Figure 9:** (c) Different stages in the evolution of artificial square ice domain boundaries calculated using Monte Carlo simulations. The green regions are domains containing Type I vertices and the domain boundaries consist of Type II vertices (blue arrows) and Type III vertices (red crosses). Small clusters and domains disappear as the large domains grow. (d) Simulations demonstrate that the domain wall modifications are driven by Type III vertex motion, so that domains shrink via Type III vertex creation and propagation. Reprinted with permission from [82]. Copyright 2012 IOP Publishing Ltd.

### 2.5 Control of artificial spin ice with a view to devices

If we are to use such frustrated arrangements of dipolar coupled magnets for applications such as logic devices [86], then a first important step is to be able to control their behaviour. One way to do this is to modify individual islands, for example making them narrower (wider) than the rest of the islands in the array so that the shape anisotropy, and therefore the island switching field, is higher (lower). In this way, one can determine in a controlled manner where Dirac string avalanches in quasi-infinite artificial spin ice arrays start and where they stop (see supplementary material of ref. [29] and Ref. [71]). In small clusters, one can use this to control the field induced states and vortex chirality [87].

Another intriguing approach is to ask whether it is possible to create a specified configuration of magnetic moments with a sequence of applied magnetic fields. In particular, a field oriented along certain directions can drive specific element reversals and avalanches, where the reversal details depend upon the magnitude of the field and disorder in the system. An analysis of this concept was made in simulations whereby specific configurations were tracked for sets of possible field sequences [88]. It was found that a sequence of such fields can access a small subset of states, but not all states. However it is possible to increase the number of states accessible to a finite sequence of fields by controlling a small number of element orientations. An example is shown in figure 10.

In figure 10a, the four configurations in a sixteen spin square array that can be accessed for a certain applied field strength are shown. The starting point is a fully polarised lattice and for this particular field strength there are only two configurations available to evolve into. Which configuration appears depends on the direction of the applied field. One additional configuration is possible from each state and arrived at by applying the field in a new direction. The exact configurations are shown in figure 10b, where the top and bottom pairs of configurations in figure 10a correspond to the two possible evolutions. Controlling one of the corner spins, indicated by the circular frame in figure 10a, allows one to access many more configurations, as shown in figure 10c, where now one is able to change 128 different configurations through alignments of the control spin and different orientations of the applied field.

Finally, at the sizes investigated today, quantum tunnelling between magnetic states is not feasible, but if the nanomagnets could be scaled down towards the size of single-molecule magnets, one could start to consider the manipulation of spin waves and the generation of novel quantum states [89].



**Figure 10:** Effect of a control spin on allowed configurations of a sixteen element array. The reference configuration for the array is with all spins pointing to the right, i.e. the black arrows. Without a control spin, a field strength of h = 11.5 is large enough to access only four configurations. These configurations are shown in (a), begin with reversals of edge element spins, and are accessed by applying the field along specific directions. The corresponding map of allowed configurations is shown in (b) where each dot represents a unique configuration of element spins, and each line represents an orientation of the field (with fixed magnitude h). To illustrate the effect of including a control spin, we specify the orientation of an element spin at the lower-left corner of the array [indicated with a circular frame in (a)] in addition to, and independently of, the applied field. This allows in principle two different flipping processes for each different flipping processes is that a multitude of configurations can be accessed depending on the orientation of the spin and the direction the field is applied, even though its magnitude is still h. In (c) the corresponding configurations are shown. Reprinted with permission from [88]. Copyright 2012 IOP Publishing Ltd.

# **3. Tunable Magnonic Crystals**

#### 3.1 Dynamics at shorter timescales

Up to this point we have considered relatively slow processes in artificial spin ice, occurring over times on the order of 10 ns or longer. These time scales are long enough to allow configurations to change in a quasi-adiabatic manner, as is the case for domain wall motion in continuous ferromagnets. While we have seen that it is possible to access a number of magnetic configurations, we have discussed dynamics only with regards to how the interacting system of magnetic elements can relax into a static arrangement. We now consider the response to magnetic fields applied at significantly higher frequencies than the fields used to determine static configurations. The timescale for the high frequency dynamics is set by the characteristic frequencies for spinwave excitations that can exist within the magnetic materials. For ferromagnets with small anisotropies, these are on the order a few GHz and higher, so that the relevant timescales are on the order of 100 ps and shorter. We will see that these excitations are strongly affected by the underlying magnetic configurations, and change when the configuration changes. This leads to a new functionality for arrays of interacting magnetic elements, namely reconfigurable microwave circuits as described in Section 3.3.

The *slow dynamics* is a result of the rate at which a system can change from one local minimum to another, and is for this reason strongly linked to the rate at which energy leaves the magnetic system as heat. In the example sketched in figure 11, such a process corresponds to a transition over an energy barrier. If this process is driven thermally it is then stochastic by nature. The probability of the transition depends upon the height of the barrier and the magnitude of fluctuations. In a real material, the energies of the fluctuations are determined by the local curvature at the stable and the unstable extrema of the potential landscape associated with the magnetic configurations.



**Figure 11:** Different time scales for a double well potential describing a two state problem. Slow dynamics corresponds to processes usually driven by field or thermally, that take the system from one equilibrium point to another. This is illustrated in the two potential wells described by the potential energy V(x), where thermal fluctuations can take the system across the barrier from the metastable state into the stable state over the saddle point as indicated by the red arrow. Fast dynamics are associated with fluctuations about equilibria, such as the oscillation indicated by the blue arrow on the left. The frequencies of these fluctuations depend on the local curvature of V(x).

In this part of the review, we are particularly concerned with the resonant dynamics associated with small amplitude magnetic excitations of the system, and such *fast dynamics* can also be understood by considering figure 11. While the potential well minima are defined by the static magnetic configurations, the excitations correspond to small fluctuations of the spin system away from the static equilibrium, as indicated by the blue arrow in the left-hand well, and have frequencies that depend upon the curvature of the potential well. These represent harmonic fluctuations in the

magnetization density that are analogous to elastic waves in solids. It is important to understand that the shape of the wells and the position of the barriers for individual elements are controlled by the magnetic properties of the material. In a strongly interacting array of elements, the interactions will also modify the effective potential landscape. Changes in the shape of the landscape of the potential energy occur on timescales determined by the dissipation dominated *slow dynamics*, and the path through the energy landscape can be chosen by the strategies discussed earlier in which magnetic fields are applied in certain directions, and certain key elements are controlled in specific ways. The dynamics involved in the fast response certainly play a role in the slow, stochastic processes but, because spinwave dynamics usually involve small amplitude fluctuations at GHz frequencies, the slow dynamics generally occur over timescales one or two orders of magnitude larger, at least for moderate temperatures relative to the barrier height.

In what follows we focus on processes associated with fluctuations, which occur on time scales at least an order of magnitude shorter than the slow relaxational dynamics. As noted earlier, these fast spinwave dynamics occur at GHz frequencies and above, and the corresponding excitations in magnetic materials are very sensitive to the geometrical structure of the material. For this reason, arrays of magnetic elements in which structure controls the spectrum of allowed excitations are called *magnonic crystals* and have analogies with photonic crystals in which the structure affects the optical properties. In magnonic crystals, magnetic excitations are typically at microwave frequencies in the materials used to date in artificial spin ice such as NiFe alloys. However, applications of magnetic materials for microwave frequencies have traditionally involved low loss materials such as the ferrites and garnets. The wavelengths of low GHz frequency spinwaves in these insulator materials are typically on the order of 1-10 µm. These materials are ferrimagnets with small net magnetic moments, and higher frequency operation in moderate applied magnetic fields is difficult to realise. These factors, together with challenges in micro- and nano-fabrication for these materials, limit possibilities for scaling into microcircuit implementation. Instead, we discuss some aspects of metal-based magnetic nanostructures, as used for artificial spin ice, which have much larger magnetic moments and support excitations in the 10-100 GHz range at µm wavelengths (and shorter) for small applied magnetic fields. These wavelengths are orders of magnitude smaller than those possible in air, and the relative ease for patterning in µm and sub-µm geometries make the metallic magnetic systems of high interest for magnonics because of the possibility construct a new class of µm-sized radio frequency components. In the next section we discuss high frequency spinwave excitations, including their special properties when studied in patterned metallic structures.

# 3.2 Spin waves in element arrays

As mentioned above, spin waves are dynamic magnetic excitations with energies above the static ground state configuration of the magnetization. Their study in magnetic materials patterned into  $\mu$ m and sub- $\mu$ m sized elements is a relatively new and rapidly expanding area. Rather than providing a detailed review here, we note that excellent summaries of recent developments can be found in the references [37, 90-93], and we refer the reader to the references therein for relevant original papers that have appeared in the vast history of the topic. We concentrate here on the key concepts of spinwaves in patterned films, and provide some examples illustrating progress and directions for future developments for magnetics that make use of arrays of patterned magnetic elements in which the magnetic configuration of an array of elements can be modified.

We consider first the general problem of spinwaves through ferromagnetic media. Spinwave energies and properties can be deduced readily from suitable equations of motion. Towards this end, it is useful to consider a phenomenology commonly used to describe magnetic spin systems, and the corresponding equations of motion that have been successfully applied to model the dynamics. The

relevant energies are the local magnetic anisotropy, and exchange and dipolar energies, and can be described in terms of an effective field  $\vec{H}_{eff}$  acting on a magnetic moment  $\vec{m}$ .

Equations of motion for magnetization at a position r contain a precessional torque term and a term that describes energy loss. An often used form is called the Landau-Lifshitz-Gilbert equation:

$$\frac{\partial M}{\partial t} = -\gamma M \times H_{eff}(r) + \frac{\alpha}{M_s} M \times \frac{\partial M}{\partial t}, \qquad (1)$$

where  $H_{eff}$  is the sum of all local fields (including external applied magnetic fields),  $\gamma = g\mu_B / \hbar$  is the gyromagnetic ratio, and  $\alpha$  is a damping constant. The effective field contains also contributions associated with magnetocrystalline anisotropy and magnetic exchange. The first term on the right of equation 1 describes precessional motion of the magnetisation and the second term is a form often used for dissipative relaxation. These equations underpin most micromagnetic simulations designed to predict and explain dynamics in magnetic materials, single elements and arrays of dipolar coupled elements.

It is important to note that the equations of motion naturally lead to nonlinear dynamics and that, in general, linear excitations exist only for small amplitude oscillations. For example, suppose that the equilibrium configuration of magnetization  $M_s$  in a ferromagnetic is uniform along the z direction. Decomposing the magnetization into dynamic and static components, we can write  $\vec{m}(x,t) = \vec{s}(x,t) + \hat{z}M_s$ , where s(x,t) is a small fluctuating component transverse to the static component. Small amplitude precessions mean that  $|\vec{s}| \ll M_s$ . The torque equations can then be solved for a magnetic resonance in an external applied magnetic field  $\hat{z}H_0$ , which corresponds to precessional motion, described as transverse components of s that oscillate in time. For example, if the static component is along the z direction then the transverse components obey  $(s_x \hat{x} + is_y \hat{y}) \exp(-i(\omega t))$ , and the resonance condition is given by

$$\omega_o = \sqrt{H_o (H_o + 4\pi M_s)}, \qquad (2)$$

where  $H_o$  is the magnitude of the applied field. This is a linear response, and exists only for small amplitude excitations. Large amplitude excitations, where  $|\vec{s}| \ll M_s$  does not hold, can be nonlinear.

Continuing with the small amplitude limit, there are travelling wave solutions that exist with amplitudes of the form  $(s_x \hat{x} + is_y \hat{y}) \exp(i(\vec{k} \cdot \vec{r} - \omega t))$  whose energies involve additional contributions from dipolar and exchange interactions. In the long wavelength limit, the dipolar interaction can be dominant, and lead to a variety of interesting features. For example, propagation along the direction of the magnetization can have a negative group velocity, and such excitations are called 'backward travelling' waves since their group velocity is negative. Propagation perpendicular to the magnetization includes the possibility of surface localised waves for suitable geometries. These modes propagate in only a limited range of directions with respect to the magnetization, and are used in insulating magnetic materials for circulators and mode isolators. Surface localised excitations are particularly relevant for the arrays of magnetic elements considered here, as will be seen later.

In addition to allowing for localised excitations, boundaries at film surfaces and element edges place conditions on the allowed wavelengths of travelling spinwaves. For example, a wave travelling along the normal direction relative to the film plane in a thin film will be reflected at the surfaces. This results in counter-propagating waves along the direction normal, which constructively interfere only for the set of wavelengths which 'fit' inside the film. Perfect pinning at a surface places a node of the spinwave at each surface, so that the allowed wavelengths are multiples of the thickness.

In this way surfaces determine and 'quantize' the allowed wavevectors for travelling spinwaves. From this point of view, small magnetic elements can be thought of as waveguides for spinwaves which permit only wavelengths satisfying certain conditions [93-95]. Collective excitations in arrays of elements are formed from excitations with large fields that stray outside individual elements. As explained later, such modes are typically surface and edge localized resonances associated with individual elements since these excitations can have significant dipolar fields at distances away from the element [96, 97].

From the above considerations, we see that spinwaves in individual magnetic nanoelements are reflected by the boundaries and appear as standing waves or resonances, plus some modes localised to the edges. When µm-sized soft iron elements are within 100 nm of one another, they are close enough to interact significantly through dipolar interactions. In this case, the edge localised modes can hybridise through the interaction, and create bands for collective spinwaves. In terms of patterned thin films, standing and collective spinwaves have been observed in dots and arrays of wires with individual element sizes and spacings in the sub-µm regime [37, 90-94, 98-105]. Experiments have been made to explore how spinwaves propagate when the wires are deformed [106, 107] and how spinwaves travel along bends [108]. Another comprehensive study of spinwaves in wires was made using Brillouin light scattering in longitudinally magnetized array of magnetic stripes of rectangular cross section and is reported in Ref. [109]. There it was shown that the distance between adjacent elements controls the strength of interaction due to dynamic dipole coupling between nearest neighbours, and evidence of the band structure formation was found for sufficiently closely spaced stripes.

A distinctive feature for spinwave excitations is that at microwave frequencies the propagation is so slow that the waves are magnetostatic, without an oscillating electric field component, and have wavelengths that can be diffracted by metallic magnetic elements with sub-micrometre dimensions. As discussed above, oscillations of the magnetization can create evanescent magnetic fields that couple neighbouring elements [110, 111]. One can understand the formation of spinwave bands on bringing individual elements close together in terms of overlap of the dynamic fields from neighbouring elements. As noted earlier, bands of collective excitations can exist for strongly interacting elements.

The idea of collective mode formation in arrays of coupled metallic magnetic elements is illustrated conceptually in figure 12. The excitations in magnetic materials are complex in detail, but do display some general features that can be captured simply by thinking of oscillation amplitudes in confined geometries. The sketches for the two elements in figure 12a and b illustrate some allowed excitations characterised by their amplitude profiles. In these sketches, one can associate the amplitude profiles with a single component of the precessing vector magnetisation. An example of an edge localized profile is shown in the element in figure 12b and is characterised by having its largest amplitude at the edges. The large amplitude at the edge corresponds to a large dipolar field for a spinwave, and this field can extend well outside the element. Having a large dynamic stray magnetic field, this mode can hybridise with similar modes on neighbouring elements when the elements are spaced sufficiently close together. An example of overlap is shown in the three elements in figure 12c. The dotted lines represent schematically the dipolar field amplitude associated with the edge localised modes, and overlaps correlate magnetizations oscillating in separate elements. There can be a phase difference between the fluctuations in the neighbouring elements that corresponds to a collective mode with a wavelength determined by the array geometry rather than the element size. In this way a band of collective excitation energies can form in much

the same way that the overlap of electron wavefunctions creates a band of electronic states in a crystalline structure. This concept of collective modes is a general phenomenon that has been realised in superlattices and multilayers for elastic waves, electronic states, magnetic spinwaves, and optical waves.



**Figure 12:** Conceptual sketch of mode overlap between elements in an array of ferromagnetic elements. Some possible standing waves, allowed in the magnetic 'waveguides' are shown in (a). The profile of an edge localized excitation is shown in (b). The solid lines are profiles corresponding to a transverse component of the precessing magnetization. The standing modes have nodes near the edges, but the edge localized modes have large amplitudes near the edges. Because the precession generates oscillating magnetic fields, the fields associated with the edge localized modes can extent significant distances outside the elements. These fields can serve to correlate precessions between neighbouring elements, and thereby create 'collective' excitations. An example is shown in (c). The associated magnetic fields (shown as dashed lines) extend outside the three elements to significant distances, and overlap between neighbouring elements. Wide bands of collective excitations can exist with bandwidths determined by the degree and strength of overlap.

### 3.3 Spinwave bands in reprogrammable crystals: artificial spin ice

The dependence of the microwave frequency properties on the magnetic configuration present provides an example of new functionalities derived from interacting arrays of magnetic particles. The artificial spin ice systems discussed earlier exhibit complex configurations that can be modified and controlled using temperature and external applied fields. This suggests that they may also be interesting for their emergent microwave properties in that new spinwave bands will arise through the interactions coupling the elements.

The appearance of frequency bands in which collective spinwaves exist is possible through dipolar fields emanating from edge localized spinwave modes, as discussed above in relation to the example depicted in figure 12. We also noted that individual elements display a variety of standing spinwave modes and can display more complex behaviour in realistic geometries. We now present some results from micromagnetic modelling, and show that some standing waves can display localisation features, and thereby have substantial stray fields extending outside the element. We show in figure 13 an example of such a standing spinwave mode for an isolated magnetic element with a geometry similar to that used in an athermal artificial spin ice. The saturation magnetisation in this element is aligned along the long axis, and in figure 13a, a contour map of a single spinwave mode is shown, calculated using micromagnetic simulation tools. Large amplitude precession is indicated with red and yellow contrasts, while small amplitude precessions are in blue and black. While several modes exist at low frequencies (in the 1-10 GHz range), this particular mode illustrates a standing wave mostly confined to the centre of the element. Nevertheless there is an appreciable amplitude near the edges, with correspondingly large stray dipolar fields that can overlap with similar fields from neighbouring elements.

In figure 13b band formation is shown as elements in Type I and Type II vertex configurations are brought close together in the manner sketched in the left side of the figure. The spectra associated with an array of vertices with infinite spacing and with close spacing between vertices are shown on the right. When far apart, the modes from each vertex are degenerate, and form narrow peaks. The two dominant peaks correspond to the lowest frequency, largest wavelength, standing modes with significant edge localizations. The peaks split as the vertices are brought close together, indicating the formation of a band structure as degeneracies are removed by inter-island interactions.



**Figure 13:** (a) Profile of spinwave mode in a single magnetic element. Blue corresponds to small amplitude precession, and red corresponds to large amplitude precession. Note the increased amplitude at the element edges. (b) Formation of spinwave bands in an artificial spin ice as elements in a Type I configuration (a ground state) or a Type II configuration (saturated) are brought together. Generated using Nmag [112].

It should be noted that very different mode spectra can exist for different vertex types. The corresponding band structures are also quite different, with structure that depends strongly on the detailed magnetic configuration. This feature suggests an interesting possibility for utilising artificial spin ice in magnonics. As we saw, a variety of magnetic configurations in artificial spin ices are possible depending upon how static magnetic fields are applied. Since spinwave spectra depend sensitively on the precise configuration of elements, it will be possible to control details of the microwave frequency response by changing the configuration. Just as there are many configurations possible, there are likewise many possible spectra associated with the configurations. For this reason we can consider the artificial spin ice as a "reconfigurable magnonic crystal". Specifically, we can establish a specific magnetic configuration through a sequence of applied fields and therefore "program" the reconfigurable crystals, so referring to artificial spin ice as *reprogrammable crystals*. It is also worth noting that configurations that consist of multiple vertex types display spectral features that can be associated with contributions from different vertices, in addition to new features arising from interactions between dissimilar vertices. One consequence is

that dynamic changes in the magnetic configuration should also appear as transient features in the mode spectra.

Combining artificial spin ice with magnonics, therefore provides a new direction of scientific and technological endeavour, which needs to be explored in more detail. Indeed, recent new developments in the study of the microwave frequency response of artificial spin ice with micromagnetic simulations demonstrates the possibilities for controlling spinwave propagation in such a reconfigurable magnonic crystal [113], and the mode spectra indicate features that may be experimentally observable as local modes. Indeed there will be unique features associated with of possible configurations that affect and control details of the spinwave spectra. This added control and flexibility can be exploited to create a new class of magnonic materials with possible applications to radio frequency communications and information processing technologies.

### 3.4 Additional magnonic structures

As mentioned earlier, construction of magnonic crystals using magnetic metals is motivated by the short wavelengths (compared to vacuum and insulators) of magnetostatic waves in conductors. This allows for scaling of elements in magnonic crystals down to  $\mu$ m and sub- $\mu$ m dimensions for device applications. However, there are difficulties with large damping and low group velocities. In order to overcome these issues, antidot arrays, consisting of an array of holes in a magnetic thin film, offer a promising geometry which has been explored by several groups. In these structures the periodic array of holes are used as scattering centres for spinwaves [114-119]. The spinwaves can travel easily through the medium surrounding the holes, but are nevertheless affected by the holes. The effect of periodic patterning is to modify the spinwave mode profiles, creating a band structure in the spinwave manifold that can be controlled by the size and spacing of the holes.

The mechanism for determining the spinwave modes in the antidot arrays involves again dipolar fields. The magnetization at the hole edges consists of uncompensated magnetic poles, and these produce large fields within the hole and, more importantly, between the holes in the material. This results in local magnetic fields between the antidots that can be strongly nonuniform. These nonuniform fields in turn result in local variations of the resonance condition (as given, for example, by equation 2). As a consequence, spinwaves can be channelled along regions where the resonance conditions are matched to the distribution of local magnetic fields.

In this context, it should be noted that the connected artificial spin ice systems [19, 32, 33] are equivalent to antidot arrays, and the various geometries will provide new mechanisms for controlling the propagation of spinwave excitations, in particular with the possibility for creating reprogrammable crystals as described in the previous section.

Advances in lithography in terms of array construction and composition also bring new directions. For example, large scale arrays of bi-component systems have been reported recently, and offer possibilities for additional functionality [120, 121]. In these systems, electron lithography is used to create an array containing two different magnetic metals. One way to do this is to fill the dots in an antidot array with a different material, thus creating a two dimensional composite. Another way is to use lithography and lift-off to construct interwoven arrays of different materials. In each case a complex magnonic band structure is predicted [122]. To date, only a subset of predicted modes has been observed, with some evidence of band gap formation created by scattering from the periodic structure.

# 3.5 Applications and other phenomena: magnetic logic and nonlinear excitations

A promising direction for magnonic crystals is their implementation for magnetic based logic. This is a large and growing field and, while a complete review is beyond the scope of the present article, we mention a few key ideas in order to illustrate the breadth of potential existing in this area.

Strategies for magnetic logic include the control of domain wall movement and special geometries of strongly coupled magnetic nanoelements [86, 123, 124]. Spin wave based logic gates are also envisaged, utilising spinwave interferometry, and an example of a one-input NOT gate was presented in [125], and is based upon manipulation of spinwave phase [93, 126]. The key challenges in this area include controlling the phase and amplitudes of the spinwaves [125, 127-129], and finding materials and geometries with long spinwave propagation path lengths that are also scalable for use in integrated circuits.

As noted earlier, the equations of motion for spin waves are in general nonlinear, and are only approximately linear for small amplitude excitations. Therefore, another important topic for magnonics is in the general area of nonlinear excitations. Nonlinear phenomena associated with spin wave interactions are well known in terms of dissipation and linewidths, but there are also nonlinear excitations of interest for applications [130-133]. Experimental investigations of nonlinear effects can be made by using spin torque transfer or large amplitude GHz frequency magnetic fields to drive resonance or other magnetic excitations. Nonlinearities appear as the amplitude of the driving field is increased [133].

A low order process that can be affected by confined geometries for high power microwave absorption by ferromagnets is called parametric decay [134]. This process is the decay of a zero wavenumber (k = 0) resonance into two oppositely travelling spin waves, each with half the frequency of the parent resonance. This process conserves energy and momentum since the k = 0 resonance has zero momentum. The decay is possible for a resonance at frequency  $\omega_o$  only if travelling states exist at  $\omega_o/2$ . Whether these states exist or not depends upon the magnitude of any applied magnetic fields, and also on any confinement quantisations. Most significantly, the existence of states with frequency less than resonance in a ferromagnet require dipolar contributions to the energy, and are possible only for waves with negative group velocity. The key point here is that these waves exist only in a limited range of wavelengths where dipolar energies dominate over exchange energies in the travelling wave. Moreover, they may exist only for a limited range of propagation directions in finite structures due to the existence of surface states and other localized modes. This gives rise to some exotic phenomena, such as analogies to Bose-Einstein condensation [135].

The relevance to our present review is seen by noting that effects due to geometrical constraints can be exploited in patterned arrays. Magnetic element dimensions can be adjusted such that the availability of spinwave states governing nonlinear processes, such as parametric decay, depend on element size. This opens the possibility to, for example, control threshold amplitudes by designing the element dimensions and provides new opportunities for integration into spin electronic devices, with the possibility to detect nonlinearities via an inverse spin Hall effect [136].

### 3.6 Fast switching and spin wave interactions

The need for high speed operations involving field or current driven high speed magnetic reversal has led to extensive investigations of reversal dynamics of magnetisation in metallic ferromagnets. Metals are typically much more lossy than insulating magnets, due to additional channels for dissipation through interaction of dynamic magnetization with conduction electrons. High speed switching involves a very nonlinear dynamics of the precessing magnetization. Moreover, reversal of magnetization into a new static direction requires dissipation of spin precessional energy, and is thereby strongly affected by nonlinear spinwave interactions that redistribute precessional energy into spinwave excitations.

For an intuitive picture of high frequency dynamics, one can think of the spins as classical angular momenta that precess about their equilibrium direction. Small angle precession corresponds to linear resonance and spinwave propagation, and large angle precession can result in magnetic reversal. Large amplitude precession is of particular interest for achieving the energy efficient switching in magnetoresistive sensors and memory elements.



**Figure 14:** Diagram indicating field orientation and magnitude values for complete reversal of an ellipsoidal particle driven by a magnetic pulse. At the top, a polar graph is shown indicating under what conditions switching of an ellipsoidal particle can be achieved using a pulsed magnetic field. The axes of the graph are the components of the pulsed applied field with the major axis of the particle aligned along the x direction. Light regions indicate complete reversal, and dark regions indicate no reversal. Examples of the magnetization precessions associated with pulse application are shown in (a)-(d) where the magnetization components are plotted as a function of time. The pulse is indicated above each graph. Each example corresponds to a specific pulse orientation as specified by the corresponding point indicated on the top polar graph. These show how a very small pulse width drives precession in all components of the magnetization, and that very small changes in pulse width can lead to very different final configurations. In particular, one sees that switching occurs in (a)-(c) when the z component (darkest line) goes from -1 to +1, but not in (d). The inset shows how a wide pulse can suppress oscillations and lead to a relatively slow switching process. Reprinted with permission from [137]. Copyright 2000 by the American Physical Society.

Dynamics for different geometries of single domain nanomagnets have been studied by many authors [137, 138]. Switching is achieved by application of a short magnetic field pulse at some angle with respect to the initial orientation of the magnetization. The motion is strongly damped as appropriate for precession in a lossy material such as the metallic magnet Permalloy. Precession is highly elliptical and controlled by dipolar fields and confinement effects, and magneto-crystalline anisotropies created by the local atomic environment.

The highly nonlinear dynamics complicate the understanding of which conditions will give

magnetic switching. Not all magnitudes or orientations of the applied field lead to switching. An example of a phase diagram for switching in a magnetic element is shown in figure 14 as a polar plot that illustrates this point. The dynamics summarised in figure 14 were determined by integrating the torque equations of motion in Eq. (1) for an ellipsoidal shaped magnetic element exposed to a pulsed magnetic field. The light regions indicate values and orientations of the applied field that lead to switching, and the dark regions indicate values that do not lead to switching. Examples of how the individual magnetization components oscillate in time are shown in figure 14(a)-(d). Each of the examples correspond to one of the labelled points on the polar plot, and illustrate how different orientations of a short pulse field produce different resulting precessions. Some of these precessions create trajectories that terminate with a switched particle, while others do not. The inset in figure 14b shows how a wide pulse can suppress oscillations and result in a comparatively slow reversal of the magnetization.

It should be noted that switching may be affected by excitations during high speed reversal processes in real elements and so do not behave as block spins. Recently it has been shown that there is a pseudo-threshold for high order spin wave interaction processes during fast switching in thin films [139]. This may explain the apparent violation of spin conservation observed at nanosecond time scales. In these experiments, vector magneto-optics was used to track all components of a precessing magnetization driven by a pulsed field, and evidence was presented that the magnitude of the magnetization was not conserved over timescales on the order of a nanosecond. This can be understand if precession of the magnetization created spinwaves that effectively reduce the magnitude of the observed magnetization during the experiment. These results illustrate a very interesting, and technologically relevant, area for exploration: namely, spin wave turbulence.

One of the key challenges here is to achieve exceptionally efficient switching of magnetic elements with minimal energy lost to heat [140-144]. It has been proposed in fact, that magnetic logic based on switching of magnetic elements can approach the so-called Landauer limit [145]. This limit describes processes in which work done on the magnetic system goes directly into changing the information content of a magnetic configuration. The aim here would be to implement reversal processes based on controlled precession, in order to reverse spins with minimal loss to heating through dissipation, driving reversal of elements in logic arrays with carefully constructed magnetic field pulses. One of the key goals for the future is therefore to be able to drive reversal of elements in logic arrays with carefully constructed magnetic field pulses. In particular, simulations for basic logic gate configurations constructed from magnetic element arrays suggest that it may be possible to approach the Landauer limit with suitably constructed pulse sequences and array geometries [145]. Important here is to devise schemes in which certain sequences and configurations of pulsed fields can be used for information storage or transfer with the theoretical minimum energy lost to heat. Experimental proof of minimum energy switching accomplished by applying carefully shaped field pulses, with a minimum of heat loss by the reversing element, would open a door to creating exceptionally efficient logic schemes for low power consumption computation.

# 4. Functional Ferroic Composites

So far in this review we have illustrated the how new functionalities can appear in systems constructed from dipolar coupled ferromagnetic elements. Introduction of geometrical constraints can create frustration and competition that lead to non-trivial configurational dynamics, which in turn create new resulting magnetic properties. We then illustrated how an associated property, radio frequency response, can be manipulated and controlled as a new derived functionality.

There are also exciting possibilities for new derived properties, which arise when new functionality is introduced with materials combining different interacting ferroic components. These materials could be used in arrays of interacting elements, such as those in artificial spin ice, for example to actively control the magnetic properties of particular elements and for controlling the motion of domain walls [146]. We present below a summary of some of the interesting and unique properties, along with future challenges, and propose here that an exciting direction for future work will be found with the construction of patterned arrays from these new materials. Indeed, it should be possible to create artificial spin ice using elements with both ferroelectric and magnetic components, providing very new and exciting possibilities using electric fields to drive and control configurable properties.



**Figure 15:** The relationship between the strain domains and magnetic domains in  $CoFeO_3$  on a  $BaTiO_3$  substrate using photoemission electron microscopy. (a) x-ray linear dichroism (XLD) reveals the strain contrast and (c-d) x-ray magnetic circular dichroism (XMCD) reveals the orientation of the magnetization. Reprinted with permission from [147]. Copyright 2010 by the American Physical Society.

#### 4.1 Materials and Interactions in Multiferroic Composites

Here we specifically address multiferroic composites (or artificial multiferroics) [148-150], where the magnetoelectric effect is generated by combining a magnetostrictive material with a piezoelectric material, either as a thin film stack or particles of one material in a matrix of the other. For device applications, one important aim is to be able to apply a voltage to the piezoelectric material, so inducing a strain that is transferred via elastic coupling to the magnetostrictive material. It is this transferred strain that gives rise to a modification of the magnetic state. Such multiferroic composite materials provide a magnetoelectric response much higher than in single-phase materials and has ordering temperatures suitable for practical applications such as sensors, transducers, filters, oscillators, and spintronic devices for logic and information storage [151-155]. We outline here the key challenges associated with these functional ferroic composites and, if the reader would like more information, there are several excellent detailed reviews of the field [149, 150, 156-162]. We then discuss the important, new direction of high frequency response of functional ferroic composites and heterostructures in the microwave region, and the unique aspects possible for electric field control of dynamic, as well as static, ferroic properties, in particular in artificial spin ice.

The overall properties of multiferroic composites very much depend on their composition (material and thickness) and microstructure. For the ferromagnetic layers, current promising choices of materials include Terfenol-D,  $CoFe_2O_4$ , and  $NiFe_2O_4$ , and for the ferroelectric layers BaTiO<sub>3</sub> (BTO) and Pb(Zr,Ti)O<sub>3</sub>, as well as BiFeO<sub>3</sub>, (BFO), which is the only room temperature single-phase magnetoelectric multiferroic reported to date [163], while a future challenge would be to discover completely new classes of materials with enhanced ferroelectric/magnetic properties. In the end, however, the determining factor for the performance of such hybrid materials is the coupling across the magnetic-piezoelectric interface, which defines how strong the magnetoelectric response will be. Therefore the understanding of the coupling mechanism is crucial in order to create a perfect

interface with optimal magnetoelectric response for device applications, particularly at the microscopic level [147]. A technique that can identify the effectiveness of the coupling is photoemission electron microscopy, which can be used to map both the magnetic and strain domains. This has been shown for a  $CoFe_2O_4$ / BaTiO<sub>3</sub> multiferroic sample with example results presented in figure 15. A stripe contrast corresponding to the modulation in the magnetic anisotropy (figure 15a) was found that is directly correlated with the modulation in the magnetic orientation (figure 15b-d). In addition, since it is the coupling between the components of the system that is critical to the magnetoelectric response, great care should be taken with the conditions under which the materials are grown, since this will determine the interface microstructure and chemistry.

As mentioned above, the magnetoelectric effect is typically generated via elastic coupling between the magnetostrictive and piezoelectric layers. However, additional effects such as exchange coupling/bias, charge mediation and interface roughness may play important roles and it is critical to be able to distinguish between these effects and utilize them to advantage. Indeed, if the piezoelectric is replaced by a multiferroic, one can exploit the exchange interaction between magnetic order in the multiferroic and the ferromagnet. In this case, an electric field can influence the magnetic state of the multiferroic, in turn modifying the ferromagnetic state in the magnetic layer via exchange coupling [164, 165]. In addition, the use of La<sub>0.7</sub>Sr<sub>0.3</sub>MnO<sub>3</sub> in multiferroic composite devices is of interest because it is half-metallic [166], providing the potential to create electrically controlled fully spin-polarized currents [158].

# 4.2 Electric field control



**Figure 16:** Changes in the magnetic configuration of a  $(BiFeO_3)_{0.65}$ - $(CoFe_2O_4)_{0.35}$  film upon electrical poling. Magnetic force microscopy image taken (a) after magnetization in an upward oriented 20 kOe perpendicular field, and (b) after electrical poling at +12 V. The scale bars are 1 µm. Reprinted with permission from [167]. Copyright 2005 American Chemical Society.

Of paramount interest to scientists working in the field of multiferroic composites is control of magnetic states with the electric field. While there have been a few demonstrations of electric field modification of the magnetic properties, a reproducible and controlled reversal of magnetic states is still to be shown. Nevertheless, manipulation of magnetic domains in thin film bi-layers such as  $Fe_{0.7}Ga_{0.3}/BTO$  [168] has been demonstrated, as well as magnetization reversal in  $CoFe_2O_4$  pillars in a BFO matrix by electrical poling with a scanned Piezo-Force Microscopy tip [167, 169, 170] as shown in figure 16. Here the film was first magnetized out-of-plane with the  $CoFe_2O_4$  columnar structures appearing white in figure 16a. After electrical poling (figure 16b) a large fraction of the magnetic columnar structures fully reversed contrast from white to black (see pillar marked with red), some partly changed colour (see pillar marked with green), and only a few remained unchanged.

In terms of first demonstrations of a switchable device, Chu et al. [171] have shown that the ferromagnetic domain structure of CoFe microstructures on a BFO film can be modified. The modification of the magnetic state in a nickel nanomagnet via the application of an electric field to a PZT film device [172], and reversible electric-field-induced switching between two reversible and orthogonal magnetic easy axes in a Ni/PMN-PT device have also been demonstrated [173]. Now electric field modification of the magnetization in isolated elements has been shown, one key future challenge would be to demonstrate the controlled and reproducible switching of arrays of nanomagnets [174], possibly dipolar coupled as in artificial spin ice, using an electric field.

Spurred on by the possible implementation of multiferroic composites in magnetic tunnel junction (MTJ) devices [175], one important question is the robustness of ferromagnetic and ferroelectric phases at low film thicknesses, since very thin films are required as tunnel barriers. Recently it has been shown that the ferroelectric polarization can be stabilized in ferroelectric film thicknesses of a few unit cells [176-178]. Moreover, it has been predicted that the ferroelectricity in a Co/BTO/Co MTJ can be maintained at BTO thicknesses down to 1.6 nm [179]. Interestingly, in a recent study employing Piezo-Force Microscopy and soft x-ray resonant magnetic scattering [180], it has been demonstrated that both magnetism and polarization occur in ultrathin BTO films coupled to a ferromagnet such as Fe or Co. Therefore it appears that multiferroicity can be generated in a diamagnetic ferroelectric at room temperature, opening the way to the creation of novel multiferroic materials.

### 4.3 Electromagnons: multiferroic composites at high frequency



Figure 17. Orientation of electric and magnetic polarizations in a single phase multiferroic material with a canted spin structure such as that expected for BaMnF<sub>2</sub>. Magnetically there are two sublattices of spins, labeled  $\vec{m}_a$  and  $\vec{m}_b$ . These sub-lattices are canted away from antiparallel order by an angle  $\theta$  that depends on the strength of magnetoelectric coupling compared to the electric polarization *P* and magnetic anisotropies. This results in a weak ferromagnetism indicated by  $\vec{M}$ . Vectors  $\vec{L}$  and  $\vec{M}$  represent the sum and difference of the two sub-lattice magnetizations.

Linking back to Section 3 of this review, we now turn to excitations in multiferroics. We begin by considering single phase materials, and then discuss composites. Single phase materials displaying simultaneous ordering of magnetic and electric polarizations have been extensively studied for possible electric field control of magnetic properties. At present the most interesting of these materials for applications have at least two magnetic sublattices that are antiferromagnetically coupled, and display weak ferromagnetism through canting of the sublattices. An example of this spin structure is sketched in figure 17 for a weakly coupled two sublattice multiferroic. This material is antiferromagnetic, and can be described as two interpenetrating lattices of spins. Spins within each of these "sub-lattices" are parallel, but spins from different sublattices would be antiparallel except for some canting due to a competing exchange interaction associated with the

magnetoelectric energy. The sublattices of spins are indicated as  $\vec{m}_a$  and  $\vec{m}_b$ . The canting corresponds to a weak ferromagnetism and is depicted by the vector  $\vec{M}$ . It is common also to define a vector  $\vec{L}$ , which is formed by the difference between  $\vec{m}_a$  and  $\vec{m}_b$  perpendicular to the electric polarization  $\vec{P}$ . The utility and interest in such single phase materials derives from the magneto-electric coupling between  $\vec{M}$  and  $\vec{P}$ .

The simultaneous existence of, and coupling between, magnetism and ferroelectricity appears in a number of complex oxides, but its manifestation is subtle and complex, and unfortunately for applications, weak in known room temperature single phase multiferroics. It is now understood that the electronic states responsible for magnetism and ferroelectricity are associated with different atoms in the oxides, and are in some sense incompatible. Magneto-electric coupling in these materials arises primarily through spin orbit effects and is typically weak and strongly dependent upon local site symmetry.

The weak ferromagnetism in a single phase material can support GHz frequency resonances and spin waves [181]. An alternative approach is to consider composites based on ferromagnetic materials which have technological applications in the MHz and GHz regimes. This approach allows tuning of electromagnetic response by combining materials with dissimilar dielectric properties. Such constructions can be used to create "artificial" materials where the resultant electromagnetic properties are greatly enhanced compared to the properties of the constituents. This strategy provides options to create materials which interact in such a way as to allow electric fields to strongly affect magnetic order even when magnetoelectric coupling is not present or too weak to be useful.

We can then link back here to multiferroic composites in which strong interactions between components can drastically modify the properties of magnetic excitations. In particular, an effective form of magneto-electric coupling appears in the spin wave dynamics of multiferroic composites can appear. Consider a heterostructure composed of alternating ferromagnetic and weak ferromagnetic ferroelectric films. The long wavelength, average magnetic and electric response of the heterostructure is determined by Maxwell's electromagnetic wave equations with boundary conditions on the dynamic electric and magnetic fields. Even if exchange coupling is neglected between the ferromagnetic and multiferroic films, one finds that magnetic dipolar fields serve to mediate an effective magneto-electric interaction in the radio frequency response [182].

As a concrete example, using parameters appropriate for  $BiFeO_3$  and NiFe, and taking into account interfacial strain, one finds a magnetoelectric excitation at 4.07 GHz for films of equal thickness [182]. This is a shift downward of the bare NiFe resonance by nearly 2 GHz, which is a significant result since the magneto-electric coupling is transferred to the NiFe via dipolar interactions. A magneto-electric spin wave resonance is thereby created, whose frequency is sensitive to the magneto-electric coupling strength and which will be directly affected by electric as well as magnetic fields.

The multiferroic heterostructure provides an interesting analogy to the artificial spin ice magnonics discussed earlier in which magnetic dipole coupling between individual elements provides a means to affect GHz frequency excitations with magnetic fields in new ways. In the multiferroic heterostructure, the dipolar coupling creates a material in which *electric* fields can be used in new ways to affect GHz frequency excitations.

#### 4.4 The future of multiferroic composites

The future of multiferroic composites depends greatly on the ability to transfer the knowledge gained so far into novel device applications. As mentioned above, it is important to find ways to control reproducibly the switching of the magnetic state with an electric field. This is non-trivial, for example in strain driven samples, since an electric field applied to the ferroelectric on its own will not bring about magnetic reversal. Since the strain drives anisotropies, in the elongated elements found in artificial spin ice discussed in the second section of this review, it would be possible to rotate the easy axis direction, but this would result at best in a rotation of the magnetization by 90°, but not achieve 180° reversal. Therefore, either some asymmetry needs to be included, such as an additional magnetic field, or ingenious electric field pulse schemes need to be created, such as those for magnetic field switching described in section 3.6, in order to drive the system reversal. Thinking further along these lines, electrical field controlled magnetic elements could be implemented in logic devices, for example providing a control element as described in section 2.5 where the anisotropy can be actively tailored with an applied electric field. Likewise control elements could be implemented as an aid to programming the reconfigurational magnotic crystals described in section 3.3.

In terms of low and high frequency properties, multiferroic composite systems are interesting in terms of providing static electric and/or magnetic field control. Simple capacitive geometries, for example, can be used to modify the frequencies of microwave resonances due to screening at ferroelectric/ferromagnetic interfaces [183]. The low frequency response to alternating fields, typically operating between 10 mHz and 100 Hz, is also interesting for implementation in magnetic sensors. For example, electric current sensing in the kHz range is possible by detecting the vortex field surrounding a d.c. line current. Also related to this, one can think of using magnetoelectric transformers for high voltage gain.

The multiferroic composite systems represent a new and fascinating class of materials with electromagnetic properties that can be optimized for particular applications through the composition and design of the heterostructure. In order to obtain a high frequency response in the 10 to 100 GHz range, ferrite-piezoelectric ceramic composites are also of interest and need to be further investigated. These also allow for electric field tunable devices, for example with YIG films grown on PMN-PT or some other piezoelectric material, and applications include band-stop and bandpass filters, phase shifters and delay lines [160].

# 5. Summary and Outlook

The purpose of this review has been to provide a picture of how controllable functionality can emerge in artificially created ferroic materials with mesoscopic structure and interactions between the components. We have provided a comprehensive picture of the relationship between configurational order and emergent dynamic material properties within the context of magnetic arrays, starting with a section on *artificial spin systems*, and then moving onto dynamics and materials in sections on *tunable magnonic crystals* and *functional ferroic composites*. The functionality of these *artificial ferroic systems* ultimately rests upon the material properties of the constituent elements, and also on the ability to fabricate high quality arrays of elements.

In order to have a picture of this concept, one can think about a musical instrument such as a violin. In order to build such a string instrument, one has to first find appropriate materials, for a violin spruce or maple wood for the body and gut, steel or other synthetic materials for the strings. The material is crafted into a suitable geometry to produce the required performance. Critical here is tuning of the strings by slow movements of the bow before the violin can be put to use in a virtuoso performance. In this way, one can create an instrument with an audible frequency response that is

an example of controlled functionality emerging from individual elements with quite disparate properties. In order to attain a particular response in the artificial ferroic systems discussed in this review, a similar strategy is followed. We begin with suitable materials and a well-defined geometry, tune the system with the application of slow varying electric and magnetic fields, and achieve the final device performance with microwave excitation.

With this in mind, we then summarised new functionalities for electric field control of magnetic materials possible with composites involving ferroelectric and multiferroic materials. The technology to achieve high density patterning at the nanoscale is most advanced for magnetic metals, but still needs to be developed for multiferroic composites. We believe that the paradigm offered by the magnetic patterned arrays, if expanded to encompass ferroic composites, has a great potential to yield important new and useful phenomena, due to the additional control of the magnetic state with an electric field. This concept of engineering of materials and system properties at the mesoscopic scale is in the process of development for materials with magnetic and/or dielectric polarisations and we have pointed in this review to interesting directions for future developments.

We have illustrated how the patterning of magnetic materials into periodic arrays can lead to magnetic configurations that exhibit a rich and complex dynamics. Mobile magnetic charges appear in strongly interacting arrays, and possibilities may exist to harness them as a novel type of charge flow, or 'magnetricity' [184]. Moreover, novel approaches to configuration control may allow a multitude of magnetic states to be addressed. A particularly exciting direction for this topic is to explore the dynamics possible in the presence of thermal fluctuations. First reports of 'thermal artificial ice' are now appearing [78, 81, 85], and with them the technology to make nanoscale elements with extremely well defined properties is developing, as well as ideas of how to incorporate nanoscale magnetic states, it is important to look to high frequency dynamics that may lead to new types of logic and microwave frequency devices. Such developments are just now being pursued [111, 113, 123-129, 185] and there are extensions into other areas of magneto-electronics and spintronics such as sensors and biomedical applications.

Following the concept of new functionality, an important class of polarisable materials incorporating ferroelectric and magnetic materials has emerged from ferroic systems that respond to electric fields through dielectric polarisation and strain effects. Here the control of interface structure is critical in order to introduce desired electric and magnetic field responses, and continued refinements are required, including: tuning of materials properties, use of new materials and improvement of coupling at the ferroelectric/magnetic material interface. While such composite systems have been studied for some time, this area has great scope for development, particularly with regard to GHz and THz functionality, as it becomes possible to affect and detect high frequency magnetic response with electric fields. Advancement here depends very much on improved control of interfaces, construction of heterostructures, and development of robust lithographic techniques.

Related to this are topics involving charge and spin transport. This is a very large and important area not covered in the present review, and has several opportunities for future exploration of transport effects in dipolar coupled magnetic arrays. A new direction particularly relevant for this review is the possibility to utilise spinwave excitations in new ways, for example in spin caloritronics in which spin currents can be created by thermal gradients. Since spinwaves carry angular momentum, it has been argued that spin-orbit coupling can affect the transport of angular momentum via spin currents across interfaces in some materials. As a consequence, mechanisms originating from spin orbit coupling at interfaces may give rise to spin Seebeck and spin Hall effects, equivalent to their conventional charge transport analogues [186-189]. This is an exciting and very

active area of development with potentially broad impact on many aspects of magnetization dynamics in nanostructures and thin films.

Further directions include several associated areas which are growing quickly. In plasmonics and metamaterials, structure is used to exploit and control the interaction of electromagnetic waves with matter. For plasmonics, the characteristic length scales of features are in the millimetre to micrometre range. One important area to be explored is the incorporation of magnetically polarisable elements in a plasmonic array in order to tune different properties such as negative refraction with external applied fields [91, 190-192]. Further directions include laser induced switching [193], coupling light to charge and spin currents for information encoding and transfer, optical trapping and manipulation, nanoplasmonics and imaging, to name just a few, with the potential to generate and steer spinwaves in an all optical set-up [194].

As a result of the nearly boundless possibilities for manipulating element structure and composition with nanoscale precision, the developing horizons for new ideas and approaches are broad and largely unexplored. Many of the most recent ideas are based on analogies to intriguing phenomena studied in very different contexts. Electrical conduction in topological insulators, for example, is a phenomena postulated only a few years ago and the experimental study is an exciting and developing area, particularly with regards to the search for suitable materials and systems The topological phase responsible for this state does not only have to be realised in electronic systems. Analogies have been proposed for electromagnetic waves, i.e. plasmonics, and also for spinwaves in magnetic materials [195, 196], offering numerous opportunities for creating new concepts and devices that can exploit topological protection of propagating excitations.

The complex interplay between structural symmetry, interactions and physical properties, reasonably well understood for materials at the atomic level, is only now being explored for materials defined at the micro- and nanoscale. We are now approaching a regime in which we can harness a wide palette of responses: electric, magnetic, thermal, elastic and electromagnetic, both in quasi-static and dynamic regimes. Here we have outlined a number future directions for scientific endeavour in the field of *artificial ferroic systems*, and it is clear that what began more than a decade ago with nanotechnology and first attempts to understand the slow dynamics of patterned polarisable materials, is now developing into an exciting field that combines materials, structure and interactions at mesoscopic length scales and brings new functionalities at a range of timescales, going from slow dynamics to the high frequency regime.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are indebted to all of our collaborators over the years, both the technical and scientific staff at our respective institutes and internationally. This review would not have been possible without them, in terms of conception of ideas, experimental and theoretical work, many lively discussions and the resulting publications.

# REFERENCES

- [1] Hellwig O, Heyderman L J, Petracic O and Zabel H 2012 *Magnetic Nanostructures: Spin Dynamics and Spin Transport 246*, ed H Zabel and M Farle: Springer) pp 189-246
- [2] Malozovsky Y M and Rozenbaum V M 1991 Orientational ordering in two-dimensional systems with long-range interaction *Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications* 175 127-45
- [3] Rozenbaum V M 1995 Ground state and vibrations of dipoles on a honeycomb lattice *Physical Review B* **51** 1290
- [4] Klymenko V E, Rozenbaum V M, Kukhtin V V and Shramko O V 1993 Stabilization of the

long-range order within a square dipole lattice by the quadrupole interaction *Solid state* communications **88** 373-5

- [5] Politi P, Pini M G and Stamps R L 2006 Dipolar ground state of planar spins on triangular lattices *Physical Review B* **73** 020405(R)
- [6] Fraerman A A and Sapozhnikov M V 2002 Hysteresis model with dipole interaction: Devil's staircase like shape of the magnetization curve *Physical Review B* **65** 184433
- [7] Vedmedenko E Y, Oepen H P, Ghazali A, Lévy J C S and Kirschner J 2000 Magnetic Microstructure of the Spin Reorientation Transition: A Computer Experiment *Physical Review Letters* 84 5884-7
- [8] Fazekas S, Kertész J and Wolf D E 2003 Two-dimensional array of magnetic particles: The role of an interaction cutoff *Physical Review E* **68** 041102
- [9] Hehn M, Ounadjela K, Bucher J P, Rousseaux F, Decanini D, Bartenlian B and Chappert C 1996 Nanoscale Magnetic Domains in Mesoscopic Magnets Science 272 1782-5
- [10] Stamm C, Marty F, Vaterlaus A, Weich V, Egger S, Maier U, Ramsperger U, Fuhrmann H and Pescia D 1998 Two-dimensional magnetic particles *Science* **282** 449-51
- [11] Cowburn R P, Adeyeye A O and Welland M E 1999 Controlling magnetic ordering in coupled nanomagnet arrays *New Journal of Physics* **1** 6.1–16.9
- [12] Harris M J, Bramwell S T, McMorrow D F, Zeiske T and Godfrey K W 1997 Geometrical frustration in the ferromagnetic pyrochlore Ho2Ti2O7 *Physical Review Letters* **79** 2554
- [13] Snyder J, Slusky J S, Cava R J and Schiffer P 2001 How 'spin ice' freezes *Nature* **413** 48-51
- [14] Gardner J S, Keren A, Ehlers G, Stock C, Segal E, Roper J M, Fak B, Stone M B, Hammar P R, Reich D H and Gaulin B D 2003 Dynamic frustrated magnetism in Tb2Ti2O7 at 50 mK *Physical Review B* 68 180401
- [15] Ramirez A P, Hayashi A, Cava R J, Siddharthan R and Shastry B S 1999 Zero-point entropy in 'spin ice' *Nature* **399** 333-5
- [16] Mirebeau I, Mutka H, Bonville P, Apetrei A and Forget A 2008 Investigation of magnetic fluctuations in Tb2Sn2O7 ordered spin ice by high-resolution energy-resolved neutron scattering *Physical Review B* **78** 174416
- [17] Wang R F, Nisoli C, Freitas R S, Li J, McConville W, Cooley B J, Lund M S, Samarth N, Leighton C, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2006 Artificial 'spin ice' in a geometrically frustrated lattice of nanoscale ferromagnetic islands *Nature* **439** 303
- [18] Mengotti E, Heyderman L J, Fraile Rodríguez A, Bisig A, Le Guyader L, Nolting F and Braun H B 2008 Building blocks of an artificial kagome spin ice: Photoemission electron microscopy of arrays of ferromagnetic islands *Physical Review B* 78 144402
- [19] Qi Y, Brintlinger T and Cumings J 2008 Direct observation of the ice rule in an artificial kagome spin ice *Physical Review B* 77 094418
- [20] Phatak C, Petford-Long A K, Heinonen O, Tanase M and De Graef M 2011 Nanoscale structure of the magnetic induction at monopole defects in artificial spin-ice lattices *Physical Review B* **83** 174431
- [21] Tanaka M, Saitoh E, Miyajima H, Yamaoka T and Iye Y 2006 Magnetic interactions in a ferromagnetic honeycomb nanoscale network *Physical Review B* **73** 052411
- [22] Möller G and Moessner R 2006 Artificial square ice and related dipolar nanoarrays *Physical Review Letters* **96** 237202
- [23] Wills A S, Ballou R and Lacroix C 2002 Model of localized highly frustrated ferromagnetism: The kagome spin ice *Physical Review B* 66 144407
- [24] Fennell T, Bramwell S T, McMorrow D F, Manuel P and Wildes A R 2007 Pinch points and Kasteleyn transitions in kagome ice *Nature Physics* **3** 566-72
- [25] Rougemaille N, Montaigne F, Canals B, Duluard A, Lacour D, Hehn M, Belkhou R, Fruchart O, El Moussaoui S, Bendounan A and Maccherozzi F 2011 Artificial Kagome Arrays of Nanomagnets: A Frozen Dipolar Spin Ice *Physical Review Letters* 106 057209
- [26] Möller G and Moessner R 2009 Magnetic multipole analysis of kagome and artificial spinice dipolar arrays *Physical Review B* **80** 140409(R)

- [27] Chern G W, Mellado P and Tchernyshyov O 2011 Two-Stage Ordering of Spins in Dipolar Spin Ice on the Kagome Lattice *Physical Review Letters* **106** 207202
- [28] Mengotti E, Heyderman L J, Bisig A, Rodríguez A F, Le Guyader L, Nolting F and Braun H B 2009 Dipolar energy states in clusters of perpendicular magnetic nanoislands *Journal of Applied Physics* 105 113113
- [29] Mengotti E, Heyderman L J, Rodríguez A F, Nolting F, Hügli R V and Braun H B 2011 Real-space observation of emergent magnetic monopoles and associated Dirac strings in artificial kagome spin ice *Nature Physics* 7 68-74
- [30] Schumann A, Sothmann B, Szary P and Zabel H 2010 Charge ordering of magnetic dipoles in artificial honeycomb patterns *Applied Physics Letters* **97** 022509
- [31] Schumann A, Szary P, Vedmedenko E Y and Zabel H 2012 Magnetic dipole configurations in honeycomb lattices: order and disorder *New Journal of Physics* **14** 035015
- [32] Ladak S, Read D E, Perkins G K, Cohen L F and Branford W R 2010 Direct observation of magnetic monopole defects in an artificial spin-ice system *Nature Physics* **6** 359-63
- [33] Mellado P, Petrova O, Shen Y C and Tchernyshyov O 2010 Dynamics of Magnetic Charges in Artificial Spin Ice *Physical Review Letters* **105** 187206
- [34] Ladak S, Walton S K, Zeissler K, Tyliszczak T, Read D E, Branford W R and Cohen L F 2012 Disorder-independent control of magnetic monopole defect population in artificial spin-ice honeycombs *New Journal of Physics* 14 045010
- [35] Shen Y, Petrova O, Mellado P, Daunheimer S, Cumings J and Tchernyshyov O 2012 Dynamics of artificial spin ice: a continuous honeycomb network *New Journal of Physics* 14 035022
- [36] Heyderman L J, Nolting F, Backes D, Czekaj S, Lopez-Diaz L, Klaui M, Rudiger U, Vaz C A F, Bland J A C, Matelon R J, Volkmann U G and Fischer P 2006 Magnetization reversal in cobalt antidot arrays *Physical Review B* 73 214429
- [37] Neusser S and Grundler D 2009 Magnonics: Spin Waves on the Nanoscale Advanced Materials **21** 2927 32
- [38] Gliga S, Yan M, Hertel R and Schneider C M 2008 Ultrafast dynamics of a magnetic antivortex: Micromagnetic simulations *Physical Review B* **77** 060404
- [39] Li J, Ke X, Zhang S, Garand D, Nisoli C, Lammert P, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2010 Comparing artificial frustrated magnets by tuning the symmetry of nanoscale permalloy arrays *Physical Review B* **81** 092406
- [40] Ke X L, Li J, Zhang S, Nisoli C, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2008 Tuning magnetic frustration of nanomagnets in triangular-lattice geometry *Applied Physics Letters* **93** 252504
- [41] Mol L A S, Pereira A R and Moura-Melo W A 2012 Extending spin ice concepts to another geometry: The artificial triangular spin ice *Physical Review B* **85** 184410
- [42] Westphalen A, Schumann A, Remhol A, Zabel H, Karolak M, Baxevanis B, Vedmedenko E Y, Last T, Kunze U and Eimuller T 2008 Magnetization reversal of microstructured kagome lattices *Physical Review B* 77 174407
- [43] Vedmedenko E Y, Oepen H P and Kirschner J 2003 Decagonal quasiferromagnetic microstructure on the penrose tiling *Physical Review Letters* **90** 137203
- [44] Terris B D and Thomson T 2005 Nanofabricated and self-assembled magnetic structures as data storage media *Journal of Physics D-Applied Physics* **38** R199-R222
- [45] Zhang S, Li J, Gilbert I, Bartell J, Erickson M J, Pan Y, Lammert P E, Nisoli C, Kohli K K, Misra R, Crespi V H, Samarth N, Leighton C and Schiffer P 2012 Perpendicular magnetization and generic realization of the ising model in artificial spin ice *Physical Review Letters* 109 087201
- [46] Libal A, Reichhardt C and Reichhardt C J O 2012 Hysteresis and return-point memory in colloidal artificial spin ice systems *Physical Review E* **86** 021406
- [47] Libal A, Reichhardt C and Reichhardt C J O 2006 Realizing colloidal artificial ice on arrays of optical traps *Physical Review Letters* 97 228302
- [48] Han Y L, Shokef Y, Alsayed A M, Yunker P, Lubensky T C and Yodh A G 2008 Geometric

frustration in buckled colloidal monolayers Nature 456 898-903

- [49] Baraban L, Makarov D, Albrecht M, Rivier N, Leiderer P and Erbe A 2008 Frustrationinduced magic number clusters of colloidal magnetic particles *Physical Review E* **77** 031407
- [50] Reichhardt C J O, Libal A and Reichhardt C 2012 Multi-step ordering in kagome and square artificial spin ice *New Journal of Physics* **14** 025006
- [51] Libal A, Reichhardt C J O and Reichhardt C 2009 Creating Artificial Ice States Using Vortices in Nanostructured Superconductors *Physical Review Letters* **102** 237004
- [52] Davidovic D, Kumar S, Reich D H, Siegel J, Field S B, Tiberio R C, Hey R and Ploog K 1996 Correlations and disorder in arrays of magnetically coupled superconducting rings *Physical Review Letters* 76 815-8
- [53] Khajetoorians A A, Wiebe J, Chilian B, Lounis S, Bluegel S and Wiesendanger R 2012 Atom-by-atom engineering and magnetometry of tailored nanomagnets *Nature Physics* 8 497-503
- [54] Olive E and Molho P 1998 Thermodynamic study of a lattice of compass needles in dipolar interaction *Physical Review B* **58** 9238-47
- [55] Mellado P, Concha A and Mahadevan L 2012 Macroscopic magnetic frustration *Physical Review Letters* **109** 257203
- [56] Li J, Zhang S, Bartell J, Nisoli C, Ke X, Lammert P E, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2010 Comparing frustrated and unfrustrated clusters of single-domain ferromagnetic islands *Physical Review B* 82 134407
- [57] Ke X, Li J, Nisoli C, Lammert P E, McConville W, Wang R F, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2008 Energy minimization and ac demagnetization in a nanomagnet array *Physical Review Letters* 101 037205
- [58] Budrikis Z, Politi P and Stamps R L 2010 Vertex Dynamics in Finite Two-Dimensional Square Spin Ices *Physical Review Letters* **105** 017201
- [59] Budrikis Z, Politi P and Stamps R L 2011 Diversity Enabling Equilibration: Disorder and the Ground State in Artificial Spin Ice *Physical Review Letters* **107** 217204
- [60] Budrikis Z, Morgan J P, Akerman J, Stein A, Politi P, Langridge S, Marrows C H and Stamps R L 2012 Disorder Strength and Field-Driven Ground State Domain Formation in Artificial Spin Ice: Experiment, Simulation, and Theory *Physical Review Letters* 109 037203
- [61] Nisoli C, Wang R F, Li J, McConville W F, Lammert P E, Schiffer P and Crespi V H 2007 Ground state lost but degeneracy found: The effective thermodynamics of artificial spin ice *Physical Review Letters* 98 217203
- [62] Nisoli C, Li J, Ke X L, Garand D, Schiffer P and Crespi V H 2010 Effective Temperature in an Interacting Vertex System: Theory and Experiment on Artificial Spin Ice *Physical Review Letters* **105** 047205
- [63] Lammert P E, Ke X L, Li J, Nisoli C, Garand D M, Crespi V H and Schiffer P 2010 Direct entropy determination and application to artificial spin ice *Nature Physics* **6** 786-9
- [64] Castelnovo C, Moessner R and Sondhi S L 2008 Magnetic monopoles in spin ice *Nature* **451** 42-5
- [65] Dirac P A M 1931 Quantised singularities in the electromagnetic field *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series a-Containing Papers of a Mathematical and Physical Character* **133** 60-72
- [66] Morris D J P, Tennant D A, Grigera S A, Klemke B, Castelnovo C, Moessner R, Czternasty C, Meissner M, Rule K C, Hoffmann J U, Kiefer K, Gerischer S, Slobinsky D and Perry R S 2009 Dirac Strings and Magnetic Monopoles in the Spin Ice Dy<sub>2</sub>Ti<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub> Science **326** 411-4
- [67] Fennell T, Deen P P, Wildes A R, Schmalzl K, Prabhakaran D, Boothroyd A T, Aldus R J, McMorrow D F and Bramwell S T 2009 Magnetic Coulomb Phase in the Spin Ice Ho2Ti2O7 Science 326 415-7
- [68] Kadowaki H, Doi N, Aoki Y, Tabata Y, Sato T J, Lynn J W, Matsuhira K and Hiroi Z 2009 Observation of Magnetic Monopoles in Spin Ice *Journal of the Physical Society of Japan* **78**

103706

- [69] Goldhaber A S and Trower W P 1990 Resource Letter MM-1 Magnetic Monopoles American Journal of Physics **58** 429-39
- [70] Balents L 2010 Spin liquids in frustrated magnets *Nature* **464** 199-208
- [71] Hügli R V, Duff G, O'Conchuir B, Mengotti E, Fraile Rodriguez A, Nolting F, Heyderman L J and Braun H B 2012 Artificial kagome spin ice: dimensional reduction, avalanche control and emergent magnetic monopoles *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society a-Mathematical Physical and Engineering Sciences* **370** 5767-82
- [72] Rougemaille N, Montaigne F, Canals B, Hehn M, Riahi H, Lacour D and Toussaint J C 2013 Chiral nature of magnetic monopoles in artificial spin ice *New Journal of Physics* 15 035026
- [73] Zeissler K, Walton S K, Ladak S, Read D E, Tyliszczak T, Cohen L F and Branford W R 2013 The non-random walk of chiral magnetic charge carriers in artificial spin ice *Scientific Reports* 3 1252
- [74] Hügli R V, Duff G, O'Conchuir B, Mengotti E, Heyderman L J, Rodriguez A F, Nolting F and Braun H B 2012 Emergent magnetic monopoles, disorder, and avalanches in artificial kagome spin ice (invited) *Journal of Applied Physics* **111** 037203
- [75] Pollard S D, Volkov V and Zhu Y 2012 Propagation of magnetic charge monopoles and Dirac flux strings in an artificial spin-ice lattice *Physical Review B* **85** 180402(R)
- [76] Mól L A S, Moura-Melo W A and Pereira A R 2010 Conditions for free magnetic monopoles in nanoscale square arrays of dipolar spin ice *Physical Review B* 82 054434
- [77] Morgan J P, Stein A, Langridge S and Marrows C H 2011 Magnetic reversal of an artificial square ice: dipolar correlation and charge ordering *New Journal of Physics* **13** 105002
- [78] Morgan J P, Stein A, Langridge S and Marrows C H 2011 Thermal ground-state ordering and elementary excitations in artificial magnetic square ice *Nature Physics* **7** 75-9
- [79] Silva R C, Nascimento F S, Mol L A S, Moura-Melo W A and Pereira A R 2012 Thermodynamics of elementary excitations in artificial magnetic square ice *New Journal of Physics* 14 015008
- [80] Nisoli C 2012 On thermalization of magnetic nano-arrays at fabrication *New Journal of Physics* **14** 035017
- [81] Porro J M, Bedoya-Pinto A, Berger A and Vavassori P 2013 Exploring thermally induced states in square artificial spin-ice arrays *New Journal of Physics* **15** 055012
- [82] Budrikis Z, Livesey K L, Morgan J P, Akerman J, Stein A, Langridge S, Marrows C H and Stamps R L 2012 Domain dynamics and fluctuations in artificial square ice at finite temperatures *New Journal of Physics* 14 035014
- [83] Arnalds U B, Farhan A, Chopdekar R V, Kapaklis V, Balan A, Papaioannou E T, Ahlberg M, Nolting F, Heyderman L J and Hjörvarsson B 2012 Thermalized ground state of artificial kagome spin ice building blocks *Applied Physics Letters* **101** 112404
- [84] Kapaklis V, Arnalds U B, Harman-Clarke A, Papaioannou E T, Karimipour M, Korelis P, Taroni A, Holdsworth P C W, Bramwell S T and Hjörvarsson B 2012 Melting artificial spin ice *New Journal of Physics* 14 035009
- [85] Farhan A, Derlet P, Kleibert A, Balan A, Chopdekar R V, Wyss M, Anghinolfi L, Nolting F and Heyderman L J 2013 Exploring hyper-cubic energy landscapes in thermally active finite artificial spin ice systems *Nature Physics* 9 375–82
- [86] Imre A, Csaba G, Ji L, Orlov A, Bernstein G H and Porod W 2006 Majority logic gate for magnetic quantum-dot cellular automata *Science* **311** 205 8
- [87] Chopdekar R V, Duff G, Huegli R V, Mengotti E, Zanin D, Heyderman L J and Braun H B 2013 *Unpublished*
- [88] Budrikis Z, Politi P and Stamps R L 2012 A network model for field and quenched disorder effects in artificial spin ice *New Journal of Physics* **14** 045008
- [89] Henry L-P, Holdsworth P C W, Mila F and Roscilde T 2012 Spin-wave analysis of the transverse-field Ising model on the checkerboard lattice *Physical Review B* **85** 134427

- [90] Kruglyak V V, Demokritov S O and Grundler D 2010 Magnonics *Journal of Physics D:* Applied Physics **43** 264001
- [91] Lenk B, Ulrichs H, Garbs F and Münzenberg M 2011 The building blocks of magnonics *Physics Reports* **507** 107-36
- [92] Serga A A, Chumak A V and Hillebrands B 2010 YIG magnonics *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **43** 264002
- [93] Chumak A V, Pirro P, Serga A A, Kostylev M P, Stamps R L, Schultheiss H, Vogt K, Hermsdoerfer S J, Laegel B and Beck P A 2009 Spin-wave propagation in a microstructured magnonic crystal *Applied Physics Letters* **95** 262508
- [94] Demidov V E, Demokritov S O, Rott K, Krzysteczko P and Reiss G 2008 Nano-optics with spin waves at microwave frequencies *Applied Physics Letters* **92** 232503
- [95] Lee K S, Han D S and Kim S K 2009 Physical origin and generic control of magnonic band gaps of dipole-exchange spin waves in width-modulated nanostrip waveguides *Physical Review Letters* **102** 127202
- [96] Kostylev M P, Gubbiotti G, Hu J G, Carlotti G, Ono T and Stamps R L 2007 Dipoleexchange propagating spin-wave modes in metallic ferromagnetic stripes *Physical Review B* 76 054422
- [97] Kostylev M, Schrader P, Stamps R L, Gubbiotti G, Carlotti G, Adeyeye A O, Goolaup S and Singh N 2008 Partial frequency band gap in one-dimensional magnonic crystals *Applied Physics Letters* **92** 132504
- [98] Demidov V E, Ulrichs H, Urazhdin S, Demokritov S O, Bessonov V, Gieniusz R and Maziewski A 2011 Resonant frequency multiplication in microscopic magnetic dots *Applied Physics Letters* **99** 012505
- [99] Kruglyak V V, Barman A, Hicken R J, Childress J R and Katine J A 2005 Picosecond magnetization dynamics in nanomagnets: Crossover to nonuniform precession *Physical Review B* 71 220409(R)
- [100] Kruglyak V V, Keatley P S, Hicken R J, Childress J R and Katine J A 2007 Dynamic configurational anisotropy in nanomagnets *Physical Review B* **75** 024407
- [101] Keatley P S, Kruglyak V V, Neudert A, Galaktionov E A, Hicken R J, Childress J R and Katine J A 2008 Time-resolved investigation of magnetization dynamics of arrays of nonellipsoidal nanomagnets with nonuniform ground states *Physical Review B* **78** 214412
- [102] Kruglyak V V, Keatley P S, Neudert A, Hicken R J, Childress J R and Katine J A 2010 Imaging Collective Magnonic Modes in 2D Arrays of Magnetic Nanoelements *Physical Review Letters* 104 027201
- [103] Miltat J, Albuquerque G and Thiaville A 2002 An Introduction to Micromagnetics in the Dynamic Regime, in Spin Dynamics in Confined Magnetic Structures I, ed. B. Hillebrands and K. Ounadjela (Topics in Applied Physics, Volume 83, 2002, pp 1-33)
- [104] Kim S K 2010 Micromagnetic computer simulations of spin waves in nanometre-scale patterned magnetic elements *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **43** 264004
- [105] Topp J, Podbielski J, Heitmann D and Grundler D 2009 Formation and control of internal spin-wave channels in arrays of densely packed Permalloy nanowires *Journal of Applied Physics* 105 07D302
- [106] Topp J, Podbielski J, Heitmann D and Grundler D 2008 Internal spin-wave confinement in magnetic nanowires due to zig-zag shaped magnetization *Physical Review B* **78** 024431
- [107] Demidov V E, Jersch J, Demokritov S O, Rott K, Krzysteczko P and Reiss G 2009 Transformation of propagating spin-wave modes in microscopic waveguides with variable width *Physical Review B* 79 054417
- [108] Vogt K, Schultheiss H, Jain S, Pearson J E, Hoffmann A, Bader S D and Hillebrands B 2012 Spin waves turning a corner *Applied Physics Letters* 101 042410
- [109] Kostylev M P and Stashkevich A A 2010 Stochastic properties and Brillouin light scattering response of thermally driven collective magnonic modes on the arrays of dipole coupled nanostripes *Physical Review B* 81 054418

- [110] Xing X J, Zhang D and Li S W 2012 Edge-state-dependent tunneling of dipole-exchange spin waves in submicrometer magnetic strips with an air gap *Nanotechnology* **23** 495202
- [111] Djafari-Rouhani B, Al-Wahsh H, Akjouj A and Dobrzynski L 2011 One-dimensional magnonic circuits with size-tunable band gaps and selective transmission *Journal of Physics: Conference Series 2011* (vol 303) p 012017
- [112] Stamps R L and Chu C-L Unpublished
- [113] Gliga S, Kakay A, Hertel R and Heinonen O 2013 Spectral Analysis of Topological Defects in an Artificial Spin-Ice Lattice *Physical Review Letters* **110** 117205
- [114] Neusser S, Duerr G, Bauer H G, Tacchi S, Madami M, Woltersdorf G, Gubbiotti G, Back C H and Grundler D 2010 Anisotropic Propagation and Damping of Spin Waves in a Nanopatterned Antidot Lattice *Physical Review Letters* 105 067208
- [115] Neusser S, Botters B, Becherer M, Schmitt-Landsiedel D and Grundler D 2008 Spin-wave localization between nearest and next-nearest neighboring holes in an antidot lattice Applied Physics Letters 93 122501
- [116] Klos J W, Kumar D, Romero-Vivas J, Fangohr H, Franchin M, Krawczyk M and Barman A 2012 Effect of magnetization pinning on the spectrum of spin waves in magnonic antidot waveguides *Physical Review B* 86 184433
- [117] Hu C L, Magaraggia R, Yuan H Y, Chang C S, Kostylev M, Tripathy D, Adeyeye A O and Stamps R L 2011 Field tunable localization of spin waves in antidot arrays *Applied Physics Letters* 98 262508
- [118] Barman A 2010 Control of magnonic spectra in cobalt nanohole arrays: the effects of density, symmetry and defects *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **43** 195002
- [119] Mandal R, Saha S, Kumar D, Barman S, Pal S, Das K, Raychaudhuri A K, Fukuma Y, Otani Y C and Barman A 2012 Optically Induced Tunable Magnetization Dynamics in Nanoscale Co Antidot Lattices ACS nano 6 3397-403
- [120] Tacchi S, Duen G, Klos J W, Madami M, Neusser S, Gubbiotti G, Carlotti G, Krawczyk M and Grundler D 2012 Forbidden band gaps in the spin-wave spectrum of a two-dimensional bicomponent magnonic crystal *Physical Review Letters* **109** 137202
- [121] Shimon G, Adeyeye A O and Ross C A 2012 Reversal mechanisms of coupled bicomponent magnetic nanostructures *Applied Physics Letters* **101** 083112
- [122] Ma F S, Lim H S, Zhang V L, Wang Z K, Piramanayagam S N, Ng S C and Kuok M H 2012 Band structures of exchange spin waves in one-dimensional bi-component magnonic crystals *Journal of Applied Physics* 111 064326
- [123] Allwood D A, Xiong G, Cooke M D, Faulkner C C, Atkinson D, Vernier N and Cowburn R P 2002 Submicrometer Ferromagnetic NOT Gate and Shift Register Science 296 2003-6
- [124] Allwood D A, Xiong G, Faulkner C C, Atkinson D, Petit D and Cowburn R P 2005 Magnetic domain-wall logic Science 309 1688-92
- [125] Schneider T, Serga A, Hillebrands B and Kostylev M 2008 Spin-wave ferromagnetic film combiner as a NOT logic gate *Journal of Nanoelectronics and Optoelectronics* **3** 69-71
- [126] Kostylev M P, Serga A A, Schneider T, Leven B and Hillebrands B 2005 Spin-wave logical gates Applied Physics Letters 87 153501
- [127] Schneider T, Serga A A, Leven B, Hillebrands B, Stamps R L and Kostylev M P 2008 Realization of spin-wave logic gates *Applied Physics Letters* 92 022505
- [128] Hertel R, Wulfhekel W and Kirschner J 2004 Domain-wall induced phase shifts in spin waves *Physical Review Letters* 93 257202
- [129] Khitun A and Wang K L 2005 Nano scale computational architectures with Spin Wave Bus Superlattices and Microstructures 38 184-200
- [130] Demidov V E, Demokritov S O, Rott K, Krzysteczko P and Reiss G 2008 Linear and nonlinear spin-wave dynamics in macro-and microscopic magnetic confined structures *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **41** 164012
- [131] Demidov V E, Buchmeier M, Rott K, Krzysteczko P, Münchenberger J, Reiss G and Demokritov S O 2010 Nonlinear Hybridization of the Fundamental Eigenmodes of

Microscopic Ferromagnetic Ellipses Physical Review Letters 104 217203

- [132] Demidov V E, Jersch J, Rott K, Krzysteczko P, Reiss G and Demokritov S O 2009 Nonlinear propagation of spin waves in microscopic magnetic stripes *Physical Review Letters* 102 177207
- [133] Stevenson S E, Moutafis C, Heldt G, Chopdekar R V, Quitmann C, Heyderman L J and Raabe J 2013 Dynamic stabilization of nonequilibrium domain configurations in magnetic squares with high amplitude excitations *Physical Review B* **87** 054423
- [134] Kostylev M, Hu J G and Stamps R L 2007 Confinement quantization of parallel pump instability threshold in a metallic ferromagnetic stripe *Applied physics letters* **90** 012507
- [135] Demokritov S O, Demidov V E, Dzyapko O, Melkov G A, Serga A A, Hillebrands B and Slavin A N 2006 Bose-Einstein condensation of quasi-equilibrium magnons at room temperature under pumping *Nature* 443 430-3
- [136] Sandweg C W, Kajiwara Y, Chumak A V, Serga A A, Vasyuchka V I, Jungfleisch M B, Saitoh E and Hillebrands B 2011 Spin pumping by parametrically excited exchange magnons *Physical Review Letters* 106 216601
- [137] Bauer M, Fassbender J, Hillebrands B and Stamps R L 2000 Switching behavior of a Stoner particle beyond the relaxation time limit *Physical Review B* **61** 3410 6
- [138] Sun Z and Wang X 2005 Fast magnetization switching of Stoner particles: A nonlinear dynamics picture *Physical Review B* **71** 174430
- [139] Livesey K L, Kostylev M P and Stamps R L 2007 Parametric spin wave excitation and cascaded processes during switching in thin films *Physical Review B* **75** 174427
- [140] Carlton D B, Scholl A, Young A T, Dhuey S D, Ashby P D, Tuchfeld E and Bokor J 2011 Computing in thermal equilibrium with dipole-coupled nanomagnets *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology* **10** 1401 - 4
- [141] Salahuddin S and Datta S 2007 Interacting systems for self-correcting low power switching *Applied Physics Letters* **90** 093503
- [142] Behin-Aein B, Salahuddin S and Datta S 2009 Switching energy of ferromagnetic logic bits Nanotechnology, IEEE Transactions on **8** 505 - 14
- [143] Csaba G, Lugli P and Porod W 2004 Power dissipation in nanomagnetic logic devices Nanotechnology, 2004. 4th IEEE Conference on 2004) p 346-8
- [144] Saslow W M and Rivkin K 2008 Irreversible thermodynamics of non-uniform insulating ferromagnets *Journal of Magnetism and Magnetic Materials* **320** 2622-8
- [145] Lambson B, Carlton D and Bokor J 2011 Exploring the thermodynamic limits of computation in integrated systems: Magnetic memory, nanomagnetic logic, and the landauer limit *Physical Review Letters* 107 010604
- [146] Dean J, Bryan M T, Schrefl T and Allwood D A 2011 Stress-based control of magnetic nanowire domain walls in artificial multiferroic systems *Journal of Applied Physics* 109 023915
- [147] Chopdekar R V, Malik V K, Fraile Rodriguez A, Le Guyader L, Takamura Y, Scholl A, Stender D, Schneider C W, Bernhard C, Nolting F and Heyderman L J 2012 Spatially resolved strain-imprinted magnetic states in an artificial multiferroic *Physical Review B* 86 014408
- [148] Nan C W, Bichurin M I, Dong S X, Viehland D and Srinivasan G 2008 Multiferroic magnetoelectric composites: Historical perspective, status, and future directions *Journal of Applied Physics* 103 031101
- [149] Martin L, Crane S P, Chu Y H, Holcomb M B, Gajek M, Huijben M, Yang C H, Balke N and Ramesh R 2008 Multiferroics and magnetoelectrics: thin films and nanostructures *Journal of Physics-Condensed Matter* **20** 434220
- [150] Ma J, Hu J, Li Z and Nan C-W 2011 Recent Progress in Multiferroic Magnetoelectric Composites: from Bulk to Thin Films Advanced Materials 23 1062-87
- [151] Ramesh R and Spaldin N A 2007 Multiferroics: progress and prospects in thin films *Nature Materials* **6** 21-9

- [152] Binek C and Doudin B 2005 Magnetoelectronics with magnetoelectrics *Journal of Physics-Condensed Matter* 17 L39-L44
- [153] Scott J F 2007 Data storage Multiferroic memories Nature Materials 6 256-7
- [154] Bibes M and Barthelemy A 2008 Multiferroics: Towards a magnetoelectric memory *Nature Materials* **7** 425-6
- [155] Chen X, Hochstrat A, Borisov P and Kleemann W 2006 Magnetoelectric exchange bias systems in spintronics *Applied Physics Letters* **89** 202508
- [156] Eerenstein W, Mathur N D and Scott J F 2006 Multiferroic and magnetoelectric materials *Nature* 442 759-65
- [157] Nan C W, Bichurin M I, Dong S, Viehland D and Srinivasan G 2008 Multiferroic magnetoelectric composites: Historical perspective, status, and future directions *Journal of Applied Physics* 103 031101
- [158] Vaz C A F 2012 Electric field control of magnetism in multiferroic heterostructures *Journal* of *Physics-Condensed Matter* **24** 333201
- [159] Hajra P, Maiti R and Chakravorty D 2011 Nanostructured Multiferroics Transactions of the Indian Ceramic Society 70 53-64
- [160] Lawes G and Srinivasan G 2011 Introduction to magnetoelectric coupling and multiferroic films *Journal of Physics D: Applied Physics* **44** 243001
- [161] Kambale R C, Jeong D-Y and Ryu J 2012 Current Status of Magnetoelectric Composite Thin/Thick Films Advances in Condensed Matter Physics **2012** 824643
- [162] Martin L W and Ramesh R 2012 Overview No. 151 Multiferroic and magnetoelectric heterostructures *Acta Materialia* **60** 2449-70
- [163] Wang J, Neaton J B, Zheng H, Nagarajan V, Ogale S B, Liu B, Viehland D, Vaithyanathan V, Schlom D G, Waghmare U V, Spaldin N A, Rabe K M, Wuttig M and Ramesh R 2003 Epitaxial BiFeO3 multiferroic thin film heterostructures *Science* 299 1719-22
- [164] Wu S M, Cybart S A, Yu P, Rossell M D, Zhang J X, Ramesh R and Dynes R C 2010 Reversible electric control of exchange bias in a multiferroic field-effect device *Nature Materials* 9 756-61
- [165] Martin L W, Chu Y-H, Holcomb M B, Huijben M, Yu P, Han S-J, Lee D, Wang S X and Ramesh R 2008 Nanoscale control of exchange bias with BiFeO3 thin films *Nano Letters* 8 2050-5
- [166] Park J H, Vescovo E, Kim H J, Kwon C, Ramesh R and Venkatesan T 1998 Direct evidence for a half-metallic ferromagnet *Nature* 392 794-6
- [167] Zavaliche F, Zheng H, Mohaddes-Ardabili L, Yang S Y, Zhan Q, Shafer P, Reilly E, Chopdekar R, Jia Y, Wright P, Schlom D G, Suzuki Y and Ramesh R 2005 Electric fieldinduced magnetization switching in epitaxial columnar nanostructures *Nano Letters* 5 1793-6
- [168] Brintlinger T, Lim S-H, Baloch K H, Alexander P, Qi Y, Barry J, Melngailis J, Salamanca-Riba L, Takeuchi I and Cumings J 2010 In Situ Observation of Reversible Nanomagnetic Switching Induced by Electric Fields *Nano Letters* 10 1219-23
- [169] Zhao T, Scholl A, Zavaliche F, Zheng H, Barry M, Doran A, Lee K, Cruz M P and Ramesh R 2007 Nanoscale x-ray magnetic circular dichroism probing of electric-field-induced magnetic switching in multiferroic nanostructures *Applied Physics Letters* **90** 123104
- [170] Dix N, Muralidharan R, Guyonnet J, Warot-Fonrose B, Varela M, Paruch P, Sanchez F and Fontcuberta J 2009 On the strain coupling across vertical interfaces of switchable BiFeO<sub>3</sub>-CoFe<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> multiferroic nanostructures *Applied Physics Letters* **95** 062907
- [171] Chu Y H, Martin L W, Holcomb M B, Gajek M, Han S J, He Q, Balke N, Yang C H, Lee D, Hu W, Zhan Q, Yang P L, Fraile-Rodriguez A, Scholl A, Wang S X and Ramesh R 2008 Electric-field control of local ferromagnetism using a magnetoelectric multiferroic *Nature Materials* 7 478-82
- [172] Chung T-K, Keller S and Carman G P 2009 Electric-field-induced reversible magnetic single-domain evolution in a magnetoelectric thin film *Applied Physics Letters* **94** 132501

- [173] Wu T, Bur A, Wong K, Zhao P, Lynch C S, Amiri P K, Wang K L and Carman G P 2011 Electrical control of reversible and permanent magnetization reorientation for magnetoelectric memory devices *Applied Physics Letters* **98** 262504
- [174] Buzzi M, Chopdekar R V, Hockel J L, Bur A, Wu T, Pilet N, Warnicke P, Carman G P, Heyderman L J and Nolting F 2013 Single domain spin manipulation by electric fields in strain coupled artificial multiferroic nanostructures *Physical Review Letters* Accepted
- [175] Gajek M, Bibes M, Fusil S, Bouzehouane K, Fontcuberta J, Barthelemy A E and Fert A 2007 Tunnel junctions with multiferroic barriers *Nature Materials* **6** 296-302
- [176] Bea H, Bibes M, Cherifi S, Nolting F, Warot-Fonrose B, Fusil S, Herranz G, Deranlot C, Jacquet E, Bouzehouane K and Barthelemy A 2006 Tunnel magnetoresistance and robust room temperature exchange bias with multiferroic BiFeO3 epitaxial thin films *Applied Physics Letters* 89 242114
- [177] Fong D D, Stephenson G B, Streiffer S K, Eastman J A, Auciello O, Fuoss P H and Thompson C 2004 Ferroelectricity in ultrathin perovskite films *Science* 304 1650-3
- [178] Petraru A, Kohlstedt H, Poppe U, Waser R, Solbach A, Klemradt U, Schubert J, Zander W and Pertsev N A 2008 Wedgelike ultrathin epitaxial BaTiO<sub>3</sub> films for studies of scaling effects in ferroelectrics *Applied Physics Letters* **93** 072902
- [179] Cao D, Cai M-Q, Hu W Y and Xu C-M 2011 Magnetoelectric effect and critical thickness for ferroelectricity in Co/BaTiO<sub>3</sub>/Co multiferroic tunnel junctions *Journal of Applied Physics* 109 114107
- [180] Valencia S, Crassous A, Bocher L, Garcia V, Moya X, Cherifi R O, Deranlot C, Bouzehouane K, Fusil S, Zobelli A, Gloter A, Mathur N D, Gaupp A, Abrudan R, Radu F, Barthelemy A and Bibes M 2011 Interface-induced room-temperature multiferroicity in BaTiO<sub>3</sub> Nature Materials 10 753-8
- [181] Gunawan V and Stamps R L 2011 Surface and bulk polaritons in a PML-type magnetoelectric multiferroic with canted spins: TE and TM polarization *Journal of Physics: Condensed Matter* 23 105901
- [182] Livesey K L and Stamps R L 2010 High-frequency susceptibility of a weak ferromagnet with magnetostrictive magnetoelectric coupling: Using heterostructures to tailor electromagnon frequencies *Physical Review B* 81 094405
- [183] Gunawan V and Stamps R L 2012 Ferromagnetic resonance shifts from electric fields: Field-enhanced screening charge in ferromagnet/ferroelectric multilayers *Physical Review B* 85 104411
- [184] Bramwell S T, Giblin S R, Calder S, Aldus R, Prabhakaran D and Fennell T 2009 Measurement of the charge and current of magnetic monopoles in spin ice *Nature* **461** 956-9
- [185] de Sousa R and Moore J E 2008 Electrical control of magnon propagation in multiferroic BiFeO<sub>3</sub> films Applied Physics Letters 92 022514
- [186] Uchida K, Xiao J, Adachi H, Ohe J, Takahashi S, Ieda J, Ota T, Kajiwara Y, Umezawa H, Kawai H, Bauer G E W, Maekawa S and Saitoh E 2010 Spin Seebeck insulator *Nat Mater* 9 894-7
- [187] Demidov V E, Urazhdin S and Demokritov S O 2009 Control of spin-wave phase and wavelength by electric current on the microscopic scale *Applied Physics Letters* **95** 262509
- [188] Demidov V E, Urazhdin S, Ulrichs H, Tiberkevich V, Slavin A, Baither D, Schmitz G and Demokritov S O 2012 Magnetic nano-oscillator driven by pure spin current *Nat Mater* 11 1028-31
- [189] Ulrichs H, Demidov V E, Demokritov S O and Urazhdin S 2012 Spin-torque nano-emitters for magnonic applications *Applied Physics Letters* **100** 162406
- [190] Buess M, Knowles T P J, Höllinger R, Haug T, Krey U, Weiss D, Pescia D, Scheinfein M R and Back C H 2005 Excitations with negative dispersion in a spin vortex *Physical Review B* 71 104415
- [191] Mikhaylovskiy R V, Hendry E and Kruglyak V V 2010 Negative permeability due to exchange spin-wave resonances in thin magnetic films with surface pinning *Physical Review*

B 82 195446

- [192] Mruczkiewicz M, Krawczyk M, Mikhaylovskiy R V and Kruglyak V V 2012 Towards highfrequency negative permeability using magnonic crystals in metamaterial design *Physical Review B* 86 024425
- [193] Ostler T A, Barker J, Evans R F L, Chantrell R W, Atxitia U, Chubykalo-Fesenko O, El Moussaoui S, Le Guyader L, Mengotti E, Heyderman L J, Nolting F, Tsukamoto A, Itoh A, Afanasiev D, Ivanov B A, Kalashnikova A M, Vahaplar K, Mentink J, Kirilyuk A, Rasing T and Kimel A V 2012 Ultrafast heating as a sufficient stimulus for magnetization reversal in a ferrimagnet *Nature Communications* 3
- [194] Satoh T, Terui Y, Moriya R, Ivanov B A, Ando K, Saitoh E, Shimura T and Kuroda K 2012 Directional control of spin-wave emission by spatially shaped light *Nature Photonics* 6 662-
- [195] Shindou R, Matsumoto R and Murakami S 2013 Topological chiral magnonic edge mode in a magnonic crystal *Physical Review B* 87 174427
- [196] Khanikaev A, Mousavi S, Tse W, Kargaria n M, MacDonald A and Shvets G 2013 Photonic Analogue of Two-dimensional Topological Insulators and Helical One-Way Edge Transport in Bi-Anisotropic Metamaterials *Nature Materials* 12 233